

UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

MODERATING ROLES OF HARDINESS AND POWER DISTANCE ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN YOUTH PROGRAM QUALITY AND POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT AMONG UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

KATAYOUN MEHDINEZHADNOURI

IPSAS 2022 2



MODERATING ROLES OF HARDINESS AND POWER DISTANCE ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN YOUTH PROGRAM QUALITY AND POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT AMONG UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS



Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

February 2022

COPYRIGHT

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs, and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



DEDICATION

This dissertation is specifically dedicated to all youth represented to this study.



Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

MODERATING ROLES OF HARDINESS AND POWER DISTANCE ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN YOUTH PROGRAM QUALITY AND POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT AMONG UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

By

KATAYOUN MEHDINEZHADNOURI

February 2022

Chairman: Professor Steven Eric Krauss, PhDFaculty: Educational Studies

Positive youth development (PYD) is a strength-based perspective that prioritises the internal and external strengths of youth to the attainment of positive outcomes. Research has shown that PYD program quality is the best predictor of positive developmental outcomes. While the effectiveness of quality PYD programs on outcomes has been well-established in adolescent populations, few studies have explored the role of program quality in university-based programs.

In universities, undergraduate students often work closely with adults in co-curricular activities, often leading programs with adults in advisory or partnership roles. While a handful of studies have shown that program quality and youth-adult partnerships in university settings are important for the achievement of positive development among students, much of this literature is situated within a Western cultural context, where youth are more accultured to engaging in power-sharing and collaboration with adult leaders. Few studies have considered how the cultural characteristics of program quality affect program outcomes.

Specifically, in Southeast Asian countries where Y-AP tend to be more heavily influenced by power distance, there is a dearth of research that explores these factors on the relationship between youth program quality and PYD. The ability of youth collaborate with adults could be affected by power distance. Scant past studies indicate that youth who are hardier will experience greater benefits from their program experiences. Few studies have examined the role of power distance and hardiness on PYD outcomes, specifically. To address these gaps in the PYD literature, the current study tested two moderation models. First, this relationship will be stronger for hardier students and second, students who experience less power distance in their relationships with program adults will also experience stronger PYD outcomes. A multi-stage cluster random sampling method was utilised to evaluate a total of 436 undergraduate students aged 19 to 24 years from public universities in Selangor state.

Quantitative analyses showed that undergraduates who reported higher youth program quality, especially Y-AP, high hardiness, and low power distance, were more likely to experience greater PYD. Hardiness and power distance partially moderated this relationship. The results indicated that indeed, program quality, especially Y-AP, predicted PYD, and that hardiness is a potential strength that can be harnessed and leveraged to overcome the limitations posed by power distance.

This study contributes to the growing body of evidence that youth programs are effective at promoting PYD. It also highlights the importance of Y-AP as a core feature of program quality, particularly for university-age youth. The findings provide further evidence from an understudied context that establishing meaningful relationships with adults and having opportunities to express their voice in the program setting are critical facilitators of PYD. The current study also advances the importance of hardiness as a potential moderating factor on positive development in cultural settings marked by high power distance relationships between youth and adults. The findings can be used by university policy makers such as those in the student affairs division, university students and university-based co-curricular program staff to develop co-curriculum programs that can enhance the developmental experiences and outcomes of undergraduate students.

Keywords: Youth Program Quality, Positive Youth Development, Hardiness, Power Distance, Undergraduate Students

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktor Falsafah

PERANAN KEKERASAN DAN KUALITI JARAK KUASA SEBAGAI MODERASI KEPADA HUBUNGAN ANTARA KUALITI PROGRAM BELIA DAN PEMBANGUNAN BELIA POSITIF DI KALANGAN PELAJAR SARJANA

Oleh

KATAYOUN MEHDINEZHADNOURI Februari 2022 Pengerusi : Profesor Steven Eric Krauss, PhD Fakulti : Pengajian Pendidikan

Pembangunan belia positif (PYD) adalah perspektif berasaskan kekuatan yang mengutamakan kekuatan dalaman dan luaran belia ke arah pencapaian hasil tingkah-laku yang positif.

Dalam universiti, pelajar pra-siswazah sering bekerjasama dengan orang dewasa dalam aktiviti kokurikulum, dan pelajar sering mengetuai program manakala orang dewasa berperanan sebagai penasihat atau rakan kongsi. Walaupun banyak kajian telah buktikan kualiti program dan perkongsian belia-dewasa (Y-AP) penting untuk mencapai pembangunan positif, dimana belia lebih terbudaya untuk terlibat dalam perkongsian kuasa dan kolaborasi dengan pemimpin dewasa, khususnya, di negara Asia Tenggara dimana Y-AP cenderung untuk dipengaruhi oleh jarak kuasa.

Untuk menangani jurang ini dalam sastera PYD, kajian semasa telah menguji dua model kesederhanaan. Pertama, hubungan ini akan menjadi lebih kuat untuk pelajar yang mempunyai daya tahan tinggi dan kedua, pelajar yang menempuhi sedikit jarak kuasa dalam hubungan mereka dengan dewasa dari program itu akan melalui keputusan PYD yang lebih tinggi.

Analisis kuantitatif menunjukkan pra-siswazah yang melaporkan kualiti program belia yang lebih tinggi, terutamanya Y-AP, daya tahan tinggi, dan jarak kuasa rendah, lebih cenderung untuk mengalami PYD yang lebih tinggi. Daya tahan dan jarak kuasa sebahagiannya memoderasikan hubungan ini. Keputusan membuktikan kualiti program,

terutamanya Y-AP, menjangkakan PYD, dan daya tahan ialah potensi kekuatan yang boleh di dikawal untuk mengatasi batasan jarak kuasa.

Kajian ini menyumbangkan bukti keberkesanan program belia dalam mempromosikan PYD. Ia juga menunjukkan kepentingan Y-AP sebagai ciri utama kualiti program. Keputusan kajian ini mengemukakan bukti lanjut dari konteks yang kurang dikaji bahawa mewujudkan hubungan yang bermakna dengan orang dewasa dan mempunyai peluang untuk menyuarakan pendapat mereka semasa program dijalankan adalah fasilitator yang kritikal untuk PYD. Kajian ini juga memaparkan kepentingan daya ketahanan sebagai faktor moderasi yang berpotensi untuk pembangunan positif dalam budaya yang mempunyai jarak kuasa tinggi antara belia dan orang dewasa

Kata kunci: Kualiti Program Belia, Pembangunan Belia Positif, Daya Ketahanan, Jarak Kuasa, Pelajar Pra-Siswazah

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study would not have been possible without the support and guidance of several individuals. I am deeply grateful to all the people who have been understanding and supportive of my life transitions and who also remained committed to my work and guided me through my journey.

First, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Steven Eric Krauss for his patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. He has provided continuous support to me over the past several years and has been consistently available to offer guidance and feedback as I sought to complete this study. Without his thoughtful guidance and patient understanding, I would not have been able to complete this work. I will always remain grateful that I had the opportunity to learn from, and work with, Prof. Steven and am honoured to call him my supervisor and mentor.

Other than my supervisor, I also want to share my appreciation for my other committee members: Prof. Dr. Ismi Arif Ismail, Dr. Mohd Mursyid bin Arshad, and Dr. Abbas Abdollahi. These scholars provided valuable expertise and insightful feedback throughout the dissertation process, which strengthened the quality of my work.

I would like to give a special mention to my husband, who has remained my biggest source of support in completing this journey and who has always encouraged me to follow my dreams. To my young son, your existence has strengthened my commitment to working to create a positive, enriching environments for all young people. Also, to my parents who gave me their unfailing support spiritually throughout writing this thesis and my life in general.

This research was conducted with the help and assistance of many youth workers whom I hold in high regard. I will be forever grateful that they allowed me into their world and shared their challenges and joys with me. I have learned so much from being in their presence, and I remain humbled by their dedication to the young people.

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of the Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Steven Eric Krauss, PhD

Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Ismi Arif bin Ismail, PhD

Professor Faculty of Educational studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

Mohd Mursyid bin Arshad, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

Abbas Abdollahi, PhD

Senior Lecturer Department of Psychology Alzahra University, Iran (Member)

ZALILAH MOHD SHARIFF, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date: 11 August 2022

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

 \mathbf{G}

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) are adhered to.

Signature: Name of Chairman	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Professor Dr. Steven Eric Krauss
Signature:	
Name of Member of Supervisory	
Committee:	Professor Dr. Ismi Arif bin Ismail
Signature:	
Name of Member	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Associate Professor Dr. Mohd Mursyid bin Arshad
	at
Signature:	M
Name of Member of Supervisory	
Committee:	Dr. Abbas Abdollahi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT

APPROVAL

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

ABSTRAK

DECLARATION	viii
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
LIST OF FIGURES	xv
LIST OF APPENDICES	xvii
CHAPTER	
1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the Study	1
1.2 Positive Youth Development (PYD)	1
1.3 Youth Program Quality (YPQ)	2
1.3.1 Youth Program Quality: Youth-Adult Partnership	
(Y-AP)	3
1.3.2 Youth Program Quality: Safe Environment	4
1.3.3 Youth Program Quality: Program Engagement	5
1.4 Program Quality among University Co-Curriculum	
Programs	5
1.5 University Co-Curriculum Programs in Malaysia	6
1.6 Power Distance (PD)	8
1.6.1 Power Distance in Malaysia	9
1.7 Hardiness	11
1.7.1 Hardiness in Youth Program Context	12
1.8 Problem Statement	12
1.9 Research Questions	15
1.10 Research Objectives	16
1.11 Research Hypotheses	16
1.12 Significance of the Study	17
1.13 Scope of the Study	21
1.14 Definition of Terms	21
1.14.1 Positive Youth Development (PYD)	21
1.14.2 Youth Program Quality (YPQ)	22
1.14.3 Power Distance	22
1.14.4 Hardiness	22
1.14.5 Demographic characteristics	23
1.15 Assumptions of the Study	23
1.16 Chapter Summary	24
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	25
2.1 Youth Development	25
2.2 Developmental Assets	25
2.3 Positive Youth Development (PYD)	26

i

iii

v

vi

		2.3.1 University-Based Co-Curriculum Programs in	20
	.	Malaysia	29
	2.4	Youth Program Quality	31
		2.4.1 Youth-Adult Partnership (Y-AP)	33
		2.4.1.1 The Components of Youth- Adult	
		Partnership (Y-AP): Youth Voice in	
		Decision-Making and Supportive Adult	
		Relationships	36
		2.4.1.2 Youth-Adult Partnership in Malaysia	38
		2.4.2 Safe Environment	40
		2.4.3 Program Engagement	40
	2.5	The Relationship between Youth Program Quality and	
		Positive Youth Development	41
		2.5.1 Youth Voice, Supportive Adults and Positive	
		Youth Development	44
		2.5.2 Safe Environment and Positive Youth	47
		Development	47
		2.5.3 Program Engagement and Positive Youth	40
	2.6	Development	48
	2.6	Moderating Variables of the Study	51
		2.6.1 Power Distance	51
		2.6.2 Power Distance and Positive Youth	50
		Development	52
		2.6.3 Hardiness	55
	2.7	2.6.4 Hardiness and Positive Youth Development	56
	2.7	Theoretical Framework2.7.1Bio-Ecological Systems Theory	63 63
		2.7.2 Hardiness Theory	68
	2.8	Summary of Chapter	08 71
	2.0	Summary of Chapter	/1
3	DESE	ARCH METHODOLOGY	73
3	3.1	Research Design	73
	3.2	Study Population and Sampling	73 74
	3.3	Instrumentation	77
	5.5	3.3.1 Positive Youth Development	78
		3.3.2 Youth Program Quality	78
		3.3.3 Hardiness	79
		3.3.4 Power Distance	80
		3.3.5 Demographic Data	80
	3.4	Pilot Test	80
	3.5	Data Collection Procedure	81
	3.6	Data Analysis	82
	3.7	Model Fit	84
	017	3.7.1 Positive Youth Development	85
		3.7.2 Parcelling the Positive Youth Development	00
		items	87
		3.7.3 Youth Program Quality (YPQ)	89
		3.7.4 Power Distance	93
		3.7.5 Hardiness	93
	3.8	Measurement Model of Study	95

xi

 \bigcirc

	3.9	Data Preparation	96
		3.9.1 Missing Data	96
		3.9.2 Outliers	97
		3.9.3 Normality	97
		3.9.4 Multicollinearity, Linearity, and	
		Homoscedasticity	97
	3.10	Test for Moderation Effect	98
	3.11	Chapter Summary	100
	4 RESU	JLTS AND DISCUSSION	101
	4.1	Background of the Respondents and Distribution of the	
		Variables	101
	4.2	Structural Model Predicting Positive Youth Development	103
		4.2.1 Research Objective 1	105
	4.3	The Moderating Effect of Hardiness and Power Distance	106
		4.3.1 Research Objective 2	106
		4.3.2 Research objective 3	113
	4.4	Discussion of the Findings	120
	4.5	Summary of Findings	128
	5 SUMI	MARY, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS AND	
		OMMENDATIONS	129
	5.1	Summary of the Study	129
	5.2	Conclusion of Findings (Objective 1)	130
	5.3	Conclusion of Findings (Objective 2)	132
	5.4	Conclusion of Findings (Objective 3)	134
	5.5	Implications of the Findings	136
		5.5.1 Implication for Theory	137
		5.5.2 Implication for Prevention/Intervention	138
		5.5.3 Implications for Policy	139
	5.6	Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research	141
	5.7	Summary of Chapter	142
	REFEREN	CES	143
	APPENDIC		143
		OF STUDENT	213
		UBLICATIONS	
	LIST OF P	UBLICATIONS	214
$\langle c \rangle$			

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
3.1	Pilot test reliability, mean, and SD of study variables	81
3.2	Fit indices of the primary measurement model of PYD	86
3.3	PYD items parcelling	88
3.4	Model fit summary, AVE, and CR for the PYD construct	89
3.5	Model fit summary, AVE, and CR for the YVDM construct	90
3.6	Model fit summary, AVE, and CR for the SAR construct	91
3.7	Model fit summary, AVE, and CR for the SE construct	92
3.8	Model fit summary, AVE, and CR for the PE construct	92
3.9	Model fit summary, AVE, and CR for PD	93
3.10	Model fit summary, AVE, and CR for Hardiness	94
3.11	Model fit summary for the measurement model	96
3.12	Bivariate correlation matrix	98
3.13	Descriptive statistics of moderators	99
4.1	Background of the respondents and distribution of variables	101
4.2	Mean and SD of studied variables	102
4.3	Correlation between the Studied Variables	103
4.4	Model fit summary for structural model	104
4.5	Standardized regression weights in structural model of YPQ	105
4.6	Moderation test of PD on the relationship between YVDM and PYD (Based on Chi-square difference test)	107
4.7	Moderation test of PD on the relationship between SAR and PYD (Based on Chi-square difference test)	109
4.8	Moderation test of PD on the relationship between SE and PYD (Based on Chi-square difference test)	110

4.10	Moderation test of PD on the relationship between PE and PYD (Based on Chi-square difference test)	112
4.11	Moderation test of hardiness on the relationship between YVDM and PYD (Based on Chi-square difference test)	113
4.12	Moderation test of hardiness on the relationship between SAR and PYD (Based on Chi-square difference test)	115
4.13	Moderation test of hardiness on the relationship between SE and PYD (Based on Chi-square difference test)	117
4.14	Moderation test of hardiness on the relationship between PE and PYD (Based on Chi-square difference test)	119
4.15	Summary of findings	128

 \bigcirc

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
2.1	General Model of Youth Development	25
2.2	Theoretical Framework	67
2.3	Conceptual Framework	71
3.1	Multi-Stage Cluster Random Sampling (n=500)	76
3.2	The Primary Measurement Model of PYD with Standardized Factor Loadings	86
3.3	The modified measurement model of PYD with standardized factor loading. A: Before removing low value factor; B: After removing low value factor	88
3.4	The measurement model for the YVDM construct	89
3.5	The measurement model for the SAR construct	90
3.6	The measurement model for the SE construct	91
3.7	The measurement model for the PE construct	92
3.8	The measurement model for PD	93
3.9	The measurement model for the Hardiness construct	94
3.10	The measurement model with standardized factor loading	95
3.11	The causal effect of X1 to Y (a: constrained model, b: Unconstrained model)	99
4.1	Structural Model of PYD	104
4.2	Plot of moderation effect of PD on the relationship between YVDM and PYD	108
4.3	Plot of moderation effect of PD on the relationship between SAR and PYD and PYD	109
4.4	Plot of moderation effect of PD on the relationship between SE and PYD	111

4.5	Plot of moderation effect of PD on the relationship between PE and PYD	112
4.6	Plot of moderation effect of hardiness on the relationship between YVDM and PYD	114
4.7	Plot of moderation effect of hardiness on the relationship between SAR and PYD	116
4.8	Plot of moderation effect of hardiness on the relationship between SE and PYD	118
4.9	Plot of moderation effect of hardiness on the relationship between PE and PYD	120

 \bigcirc

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix P		Page
А	Set of Questionnaires	168
В	Ethical Approval	181
С	Permission for Data Collection	182
D	Permission for Using Questionnaires	183
Е	Pilot Test	186
F	Mean and Standard Deviation of Variables	187
G	Missing Values	190
Н	Assessment of Outliers	191
Ι	Assessment of Normality	193
J	Assessment of Homoscedasticity	195
K	Moderation test (Constrained and unconstrained models)	197

G

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The first chapter of this study provides the background of the present research. Subsequently, the problem statement is identified based on the related issue of this study. The research questions, research objectives, research hypotheses, problem statement, significance of the study, conceptual and operational of definitions follow.

1.1 Background of the Study

1.2 Positive Youth Development (PYD)

As teenagers mature, they face biological, psychosocial, and cognitive changes (Steinberg, 2008; Lerner, 2015), and they encounter various choices, opportunities, and challenges in their path towards adulthood (Geldhof et al., 2015; Lerner, Johnson, & Buckingham, 2015). To have a good overview of this psychological development, different facets of the life of youth can be examined, namely their identity and feeling of self-worth, ability to interact and get along with others, having compassion and concern for others, and their relationships with people in their setting (Lerner & Chase, 2019). These areas map onto the study of positive youth development, specifically the 6Cs framework of Confidence, Competence, Connection, Character, Caring, and Contribution (Lerner et al., 2000; 2015).

Positive youth development is both a domain of study and a field practice, which attempts to build the skills and competencies of youth specified by a positive sense to support and assist them to reach to healthy adulthood (Lerner, Johnson, & Buckingham, 2015). Positive youth development has gained acceptance as a strategy for working with young people since the mid-1990s. Central to the positive youth development approach is the belief that youth development is not just about preventing behavioural problems among young people but confirms that all youth should be developed (Geldhof et al., 2014). Hence, youth programs and practitioners that accept the positive youth development approach utilise a strengths-based attitude in cooperating with youth (Collura, 2016).

Positive youth development as a strengths-based and resource-focused approach emphasises that social involvement is important for the healthy development of youth and that of their communities. Accordingly, youth engagement in their communities and programs has the potential to make contributions toward ending cycles of poverty, to create resiliency, to improve social health, and to empower economies (Benson, Leffert, Scales, & Blyth, 2012; Patton et al., 2016). These contributions are assumed to offer behavioural components as well as ideological constituents for both youth and society (Lerner, von Eye, Lerner, Lewin-Bizan, & Bowers, 2010). When youth realise that they can contribute to self and their surrounding contexts, they will act on this belief and advance in their positive development (Lerner et al., 2015). Access to activities that help young people achieve the five C's (competence, confidence, connection, character, and caring) can lead youth to achieve the final, or sixth C which is Contribution (Benson et al., 2012; Lerner & Lerner, 2013).

1.3 Youth Program Quality (YPQ)

Over the past several decades, scholars, practitioners, and policy makers have designed, performed, and assessed numerous studies, interventions, programs, and practices designed to enhance the quality of positive youth development programs. These works are usually obtained from theories and philosophies of the positive youth development perspective. Positive youth development scholars demonstrate that all youth have strengths and that the contexts are valuable resources for them (Benson et al., 2012). When the strengths of youth are aligned with the resources in their contexts, youth positive development is raised. For example, as reported in the study by Collura (2016), there is an improvement in the social behaviours, empowerment, and peer relations of students during program activities with higher staff-youth relations, advantageous program space, and the active engagement of students.

Resources such as youth programs aimed at elevating youth development (Averett, Crowe & Hall, 2015), which designed to promote youth development and look to understand, educate, and engage youth in useful activities (Fredricks, Naftzger, Smith, & Riley, 2017). A hallmark of youth programs is that programs are based on the notion that youth have strengths and abilities at their developmental stage and that they are not just "inadequate" or "undeveloped" adults. Youth programs assist youth in navigating adolescence in healthy ways and prepare youth for adult life via nurturing their positive development (Anyon, Kennedy, Durbahn, & Jenson, 2018), and aimed to increase positive psychosocial outcomes (Lerner & Lerner, 2013).

Youth programs include activities designed to engage people aged 10 to 25 years old. During youth programs, youth might be engaged in various activities such as sports, religion, community service, and outdoor education (Norze, 2018). Youth programs take a variety of forms such as extra-curricular, summer programs, and after-school programs. However, these programs vary widely in terms of location (school vs. community based), participants (elementary, middle, or high school, and university) and aims (academic enrichment, social development) (Durlak, Weissberg, & Pachan, 2010; Collura, 2016).

Research related to youth programs often emphasises the importance of relationships (Christens & Dolan, 2011), a supportive context (Ramey, 2013), and youth engagement that is linked to positive developmental outcomes (Ciocanel, Power, Eriksen, & Gillings, 2017). Studies of youth program quality have emphasised several important predictors, including the importance of meaningful youth participation, which youth development

is enhanced, and community engagement has promoted (Sullivan & Larson, 2010; Christens, Peterson, Reid, & Garcia-Reid, 2015).

A significant resource for positive youth development is co-curriculum programs in universities, which aim to build on the strengths of undergraduate students to support their ongoing, holistic development (Arnold, 2015). Program quality is context specific, hence, it must meet the specific needs of a target population, fit the environment, and support the specific aims of the program itself (Smith et al., 2013; Norze, 2018). Furthermore, the basic necessities including safety, positive relationships with others, and engaging in developmental process are universal and demonstrate the contribution of studies about the understanding of youth development (O'Mara-Eves et al., 2015). Scholars have discussed that there is a need to fully understand how to successfully implement program features into positive youth development (Collura, 2016; Norze & Cater, 2020).

Although evidence exists that program leaders have been concerned about the quality of the youth experiences in programs as early as the 1920s (Collura, 2016), research has only recently begun to focus attention on this topic. Over the past 10 years, researchers in the fields of youth development and youth programming have devoted considerable attention to identifying features that can help scholars distinguish high quality programs (Collura, 2016). Accordingly, this study provides an overview of the influence of youth program quality in the form of co-curriculum programs on positive youth development among undergraduate students. The following sections provide further elaboration on some of the core elements of youth development program quality including youth-adult partnership, safe environment, and program engagement.

1.3.1 Youth Program Quality: Youth-Adult Partnership (Y-AP)

The term youth-adult partnership is defined as opportunities for youth voice and supportive relationships with adults, and is often associated with positive youth development outcomes (Mitra, Sanders, & Perkins, 2010). The youth-adult partnership is a social discipline, a special set of activities, roles, and relationships that are the basis of positive youth development (Zeldin, Gauley, Krauss, Kornbluh, & Collura, 2017).

Youth-adult partnership is an influential developmental relationship because it shifts power in favour of the developing person while continuing to provide the scaffolding, empathy, and open dialogue that allows youth to benefit from the higher degree of control (Zeldin, Krauss, Collura, Lucchesi, & Sulaiman, 2014), allowing youth to remain active in their own development (Christens & Peterson, 2012). On these grounds, the youth-adult partnership in co-curriculum programs is one mechanism through which students can obtain practical and useful experiences (MacIntosh, 2013; Zeldin, Gauley, Krauss, Kornbluh, & Collura, 2017). The two core elements of youth-adult partnership, namely youth voice in decision making and supportive adult relationships, positively influence development by providing opportunities for young people to have a voice and

take responsibility in the context of the programs in which they are participating (Zeldin, Christens, & Powers, 2013).

One of the more promising approaches for enhancing positive development through participation in society is the youth-adult partnership at the undergraduate level, as this is an ideal time for social engagement. As the undergraduate years are when youth begin to interact in more substantive ways with adult society, young people need opportunities to build critical competencies for navigating the adult world.

Among co-curriculum programs, relationships between students and program staff are important vehicles for improving youth development (Yohalem & WilsonAhlstrom, 2010; Krauss et al., 2014; Zeldin et al., 2017). By this, when youth voice is coupled with support from staff within accessible and beneficial resources, positive development increases (Bowers, Waren, johnson, Lerner, 2015; Gestsdottir et al., 2015; Mole, 2016). As students partake in programs with program staff, they see themselves as powerful actors in their own development. Hence, these experiences can make strong contributions to positive youth development (Flanagan et al., 2015) and a safe environment as another youth program indicator that is important to youth engagement, as discussed below.

1.3.2 Youth Program Quality: Safe Environment

In line with Maslow's hierarchy of needs, it is confirmed that a sense of safety (both physical and psychosocial) residing at the most basic level is essential for positive youth development (Flanagan et al., 2015). A safe environment is described as a safe and friendly setting where youth feel valued, respected, and encouraged to reach their full potential (Wu,Weiss, Kornbluh & Roddy, 2014). Among youth programs, making a safe environment requires that program staff as adults provide opportunities for youth to express their voice and participate in the decision making process (Collura, 2016).

A safe environment in the program context is related to the positive development outcomes of youth. For example, a safe environment in programs is positively related to the psychosocial outcome of agency (Krauss et al., 2013), and less physical aggression (Gannett, Clark, Clarke, Richards, Weinstock, 2013). In a safe environment, youth mentioned that they trusted program staff and this made them more comfortable to be themselves and discuss personal issues (Collura, 2016).

Positive development is something that youth do for themselves with the support of adults. Therefore, to promote positive development, there is a need for the staff in cocurriculum programs to provide students with meaningful opportunities to become engaged and make a difference in their programs and societies. Thus, undergraduate students should be psychologically safe to be engaged in program activities, making relationships with adults, and voicing their ideas, which are constructs for positive development.

1.3.3 Youth Program Quality: Program Engagement

Program engagement as an indicator of youth programs is defined as a deeper attention to learning, a desire for challenge, and a tendency to go beyond the necessities of duties (Hamre, Hatfield, Pianta, & Jamil, 2014). Engaging in program activities is associated with the competency of youth (Shernoff, 2010), selfconfidence and character building (Pilkauskaite-Valickiene, 2015), caring for others (Lawford & Ramey, 2017), making connection with others (Krauss et al., 2014), and contribution to their context (Collura, 2016).

Over time as students are engaged in program activities, they start to improve their knowledge, skills, and beliefs by taking up opportunities to practice and utilise those opportunities within their positive developmental pathways (Shernoff, 2010; Pellegrino & Hilton, 2012; Hamre et al., 2014). Research suggests that students who engage in program activities attain a sense of autonomy and increased confidence that helps them to build relationships within their communities (Zeldin, Krauss, Kim, Collura, & Abdullah, 2016). Program engagement provides youth with the opportunity to learn new skills (Shernoff, 2010). The engagement of students in program activities is one of the serious features of efficient programs (Mole, 2016) and positive relations with program staff that represent respect and acceptance of students should be the standard of programs (Serido, Borden, & Wiggs, 2014).

Youth engagement is important because they merit the right to express their own interests (Brewer, Nicotera, Veeh, & Laser-Maira, 2018). Co-curriculum programs in universities prepare undergraduate students with opportunities to learn outside of the classroom and acquire new skills by engagement in many enrichment activities such as improved social competence (Chung et al., 2018), academic achievement

(Ramey et al., 2018), and flourishing of the civic frequency of student activities (Brewer et al., 2018). Students who are engaged in program activities are more likely to receive the developmental benefits of program engagement (Collura, 2016).

1.4 Program Quality among University Co-Curriculum Programs

Research has shown that PYD program quality is the best predictor not only of risk prevention, but also positive developmental outcomes (Bean & Forneris, 2016). While the effectiveness of quality PYD programs on outcomes has been wellestablished in adolescent populations (Averett, Crowe & Hall, 2015; McDavid et al.,

2019), fewer studies have explored the role of program quality in universitybased PYD programs.

Co-curriculum programs are a significant and substantial part of the university education system that prepares students to be successful adults (Shek & Yu, 2011). In the context of university-age youth, co-curriculum programs have emerged to increase the participation of undergraduates in social activities that promote positive developmental outcomes such as self-understanding, competence, resilience, spirituality, positive identity, and relationship building (Sun & Shek, 2012).

Since the goals of co-curriculum programs are in line with the goals of PYD programs and youth policy, they posit into the category of PYD programs as they are mentioned as key tools in promoting positive youth development (Roth & BrooksGunn, 2016). The contribution of undergraduate students to society is important since they are in an ideal developmental period for growth and future social development that can be increased through suitable youth programs (Asefa., 2011; Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2016).

Regarding program quality among undergraduate students, when programs are applied as a standard process and are well organised, this will promote positive development for the undergraduate students (Durlak et al., 2010; Zeldin, Krauss, Kim, Collura, & Abdullah, 2016). These types of programs are considered as resources for youth development as they usually offer opportunities for students to have their own voice in decision-making.

In addition, students can participate in activities in challenging situations through sharing their power and knowledge with staff and develop mutually beneficial relationships with the program staff as adults (Benson, Scales, & Syvertsen, 2010; Zeldin et al., 2016). For many students, co-curriculum programs suggest different contexts to increase opportunities to have personal interactions with adults and to nurture a feeling of self-value that is an important factor in their positive development (Serido, Borden, & Perkins, 2011).

In the current study, four indicators of program quality tend to be prominent and most relevant to university-age youth. These are supportive relationships and expressing voices in the decision-making process (as youth-adult partnership constructs), a sense of a safe environment and a sense of program engagement.

1.5 University Co-Curriculum Programs in Malaysia

Undergraduate students of today are considered as a basic human resource of Malaysia and future leaders who will develop nation building. However, for a nation that is aiming for knowledgeable, skilled youth as outlined in the Malaysian youth policy, students need to be empowered with values and strength of character to deal with the future with confidence (Musa, Othman, 2016). This contains character traits such as initiatives, resiliency and strength of character and mind, which enable students to face challenges. Students should have the capacity to contribute to the nation (Kuan et al., 2019).

Accordingly, co-curriculum programs become contexts to enable students to contribute to nation building, through equipping them with the relevant skills, competencies, and abilities (Zeldin et al., 2016). These programs are influential contexts for positive development as they provide opportunities for youth to have a voice in decision making, to work collaboratively with adults on activities, to take leadership roles on challenging tasks, and sharing power and reciprocity with program staff as adults (Zeldin et al., 2016). For instance, research noted that when youth take roles in co-curricular activities the result is a greater sense of belonging, attachment, and agency (Flanagan & Levine, 2010).

With the intention of positive youth development in Malaysia, co-curriculum programs among Malaysian universities are the best context to foster positive development in undergraduate students. Importantly, positive development is not something adults prepare for youth, but rather something which youth do for themselves while receiving the support of adults (Benson et al., 2012; Rosa & Tudge, 2013). Thus, to enhance the development of undergraduate students, co-curriculum programs are called upon to equip undergraduate students with meaningful and relevant opportunities to participate in programs and communities. Accordingly, positive youth development is very important since it aims to develop students as future leaders, through the acquisition of the 6 Cs as stated in the Malaysian youth policy. It must not only provide a productive role for Malaysian youth, but also allow youth to have a significant engagement in community development due to the view of students as contributors to society which is at the centre of attention in Malaysia (Ahmad, Rahim, Pawanteh, & Ahmad, 2012; Kwan Meng, 2012a; Krauss et al., 2014). Thus, one of the ways to obtain this goal is through co-curriculum programs offered in universities (Shamsudin, Ismail, Al-Mamun, & Nordin, 2014).

Almost all public universities offer co-curriculum programs for undergraduate students, which include many opportunities in various fields such as entrepreneurship, sport, arts, community service, culture, volunteering, innovation and invention, public speaking, and leadership (Ministry of Youth and Sports, 2019). The increased focus on co-curriculum programs at the undergraduate level has proven to increase autonomy, social involvement, character improvement, academic achievement, and personal growth of those participating students (Shamsudin, Ismail, Al-Mamun & Nordin, 2014). To have a deeper understanding of youth program quality among undergraduate students, the beliefs and attitudes of students need to be evaluated. From this, more meaningful future social improvement opportunities can be developed (Ministry of Youth and Sports, 2019).

As declared earlier, positive youth development is defined as an approach which leads communities to make structured programs, therefore, students will be able to develop to their complete potential (Bowers et al., 2014) since due to the collectivist culture of Malaysia, undergraduate students usually face disengagement from adults outside of the home. Accordingly, the Institute for Youth Research, Malaysia, (2015) highlighted the main principles regarding youth development such as youth positive outcomes, youth voice, strategies that target all youth engagement, the long-term participation of youth in the community, social connection, and focus of cooperation.

Today in Malaysia, the participation of undergraduate students as emerging adults in social processes requires students, specifically those aged 18 to 25 years old, to reconcile to their new social responsibilities such as making proper relationships with adults, making decisions, and contributing to social activities (Mohamed, Nor Hidayah and Hamzah, 2016). These responsibilities require encouraging undergraduates to engage in program activities and the decision-making process, which prepare them to become involved in social change and demonstrate positive outcomes. The youth population is a precious asset to Malaysia; hence, it is important to improve and equip youth with knowledge, skills, and attitudes that Malaysia needs for youth development and to empower them to be stronger to deal with challenges in their life (National Youth Policy, Malaysia, 2018).

As there is a tendency to use positive youth development constructs in programs in universities (Mohamed et al., 2016), there is a necessity to review the relevant constructs so that program implementers and policy makers can have a better understanding of the conceptual basis of positive youth development among cocurriculum programs. Furthermore, positive development depends on the cultural system in which youth grow up (Puni & Anlesinya, 2017). Prior studies mentioned that culture plays a significant role in prosocial behaviour (Lian, Ferris, & Brown, 2012; Puni & Anlesinya, 2017), yet few research studies have evaluated the effect of culture on positive development within youth programs in one specific culture.

As traditional Malaysian culture emphasises hierarchy, and youth are socialised to accept the duties and rules tied to their roles in the hierarchical system, values such as power distance are at a high level in the Malaysian collectivist culture (Hofstede, 2015). Thus, this study has attempted to evaluate the influence of power distance as a cultural orientation on positive development based on a sample of Malaysian undergraduate students.

1.6 Power Distance (PD)

Power distance orientation, as defined by Hofstede (1991), is the extent to which a less powerful individual expects and accepts unequally distributed power in a social context. Individuals with low power distance are less constrained by the supervisorsubordinate relationship or consider it as a mainly social support (Qian, Han, Wang, Li, & Wang, 2014).

They are more willing to explore and exploit other social resources aside from the formal interpersonal relationships in their setting. In addition, they are more openminded and inclined to respect the differences between individuals that are based on experiences and ability rather than mere position (Hofstede, 2011). A diverse society showing a high-power distance will simply accept a ranked order in which everybody has a place. These societies simply accept their inequality and show quality leadership-follower relations (Fu, Lv, Yang, Yu, & Wang, 2018).

1.6.1 Power Distance in Malaysia

The main theoretical premise behind power distance is that there is a massive difference on youth from one culture to another culture and who are distinguished as a different stage of life and transitioning to adulthood as this usually depends on different cultural contexts (Patton et al., 2016). Thus, Malaysia is an essential cultural context for research because of its collectivist culture that has a high score of power distance (Hofstede, 2015).

In collectivist culture society, social hierarchy is prevalent and institutionalises that sense of inequality such that adults are therefore, expected to solve problems as well as make all the difficult decisions. Youth will simply agree with adults rather than challenge or try to arrive at their own solutions in dealing with difficulty and seldom challenge the power of adults (Hofstede, 2015). Put simply, youth in collectivist cultures accept a higher degree of unequally distributed power than do youth in individualist cultures (Hofstede, 2011).

On a related note and following the reasoning of Hofstede (1983), Asian countries are on the high-power distance side of the spectrum (Hofstede, 1983). Undergraduate students as emerging adults in high power distance cultures, tend to believe that power and authority are facts of life. Both consciously and unconsciously, these cultures as collectivist cultures teach their members that people are not equal in this world and that everybody has a right place, which is clearly marked by hierarchical arrangements (Hofstede, 2011; Qian et al., 2014).

As mentioned in some studies on youth programs, when a relationship quality is high, it points to high-quality communication for both students and program staff as adults (Qian et al., 2014). In low level of power distance programs, supportive adults are more willing to share information, their thoughts and concerns without denying, exaggerating or ignoring any feelings of being psychological safe, and this builds higher confidence in students (Eby, Butts, Durley, & Ragins, 2010; Qian et al., 2014). In addition, students are more willing to share life stories with supportive staff, try their best to sense and internalise the support of staff and to use and benefit as much as possible from the relationship with staff as adults (Qian et al., 2014). In the context of university, the major issue of power distance is how an academic setting can handle inequality (Qian et al., 2014). In most situations, the higher the power distance, the more disconnected the students feel as their presence seems not to be important to the corporation or organisation. In contrast, students with low power distance strive to equalise the power (Qian et al., 2014). Therefore, for program staff that want a quality structure with less disconnected students, it is important for them to overcome the adversity of the organisational structure (Monea, Bengaa, & Opreb, 2016).

Although Malaysia is a fast-developing country in South-East Asia, unfortunately, Malaysian undergraduate students usually experience traditional assistance from society (Abdollahi, Abu Talib, Yaacob, & Ismail, 2015). Hence, this study attempts to introduce power distance as a moderator in the relationship between co-curriculum program quality and positive youth development among undergraduate students and examine how power distance affects the positive development of undergraduates.

As conclusion, the youth-adult partnership is a social discipline, a special set of activities, roles, and relationships that are the basis of positive youth development (Zeldin, Gauley, Krauss, Kornbluh, & Collura, 2017). Youth-adult partnership is an influential developmental relationship because it shifts power in favour of the developing person while continuing to provide the scaffolding, empathy, and open dialogue that allows youth to benefit from the higher degree of control (Zeldin, Krauss, Collura, Lucchesi, & Sulaiman, 2014), allowing youth to remain active in their own development (Christens & Peterson, 2012).

On the other hand, power distance, is the extent to which a less powerful individual expects and accepts unequally distributed power in a social context. Accordingly, in Malaysia, co-curricular programs are a key strategy for raising youth competencies and leadership proficiency (Mohamed et al., 2016), which it has yet to attain the favourable potential for powerful partnerships between youth and adults. Also, youth-adult partnership is an issue of growing concern. This is borne out by continuously low engagement of youth's participation in youth program activities (Krauss et al., 2020). These issues are of concern to Malaysian policy makers. They run counter to the inherently Malaysian collectivist culture, include powerful common values and social belief (Malaysian Youth Index, 2016) by prioritize connection to make youth for productive leadership roles and competencies, as well as for engagement in community development, societal issues, and universal citizenship besides adults (Ahmad et al., 2012). Researchers propose a significant reason that is youth-adult partnership is hard to perform with quality due to the power distance of Malaysia culture (PDI rate is 104 out of 120) (Hofstede, 2015). Many undergraduate students do not have the proficiency or orientation to make relationships with program staff as adults and share their ideas and making decisions as they be convinced by hierarchy systems and believe the hierarchy.



1.7 Hardiness

Hardiness is defined as a personality trait characterised by resilience and the ability to cope properly with difficulty. The hardiness concept was introduced by Kobasa (1979), as a set of positive attitudes to explore how a person manages himself/herself under hardship, which includes three components named commitment, control and challenge to prepare a person for managing issues.

Commitment describes that a person is dedicated to activities that are more meaningful and interesting. Control is when a person has belief of his/her handling and influence on life experiences. By this, s/he can make decisions that can affect the environment and events through the sense of responsibility, optimistic view, and resiliency. Finally, challenge describes that one believes change as an exciting encounter. S/he views the world as an opportunity for development (Kobasa, Maddi, & Kahn, 1982).

Kobasa and her colleagues (1982) mentioned that hardy people are actively engaged in program activities by improving and keeping positive attitudes and aims, which are aligned with a sense of responsibility, caring, and engagement. They accept challenges and see change as a reason for positive development. Also, this ability gives the ability to stay and make connection with others in their context. They believe that they can control and manage their feelings and events that enable them to comprehend stressful status as challenges, rather than as threats. The hardy people are more open to experience their environment and are more confident.

Recently, there has been increasing academic research in relation to student strengths and positive development (Gestsdottir et al., 2010; Campbell et al., 2013; Holt et al., 2017). However, investigation into program quality and positive development is yet limited, since there is a lack of research of the variables that explain this relationship, especially, in a diverse cultural context. Hence, to explain this, hardiness as a positive attitude of youth could play a significant role to increase the relationship between youth programs and positive development (Skomorovsky & Sudom, 2011). Much of the current evidence on the relationship between youth program quality and positive youth development has been conducted in a linear fashion, without considering the role of intervening variables that can help explain the relationship in different cultural settings (Silliman & Schumm, 2013; Fredricks et al., 2017; Ramey et al., 2018).

Following the hardiness theory, two mechanisms have been presented to illustrate the effect of hardiness: first, hardy undergraduates are more optimistic within their setting and second, they evaluate activities as challenging and controllable. They try to obtain experience from engagement in the program activities through communication with program staff and use hardiness as a strategy to voice their ideas and opinions. Thus, the present study examines the role of hardiness as a moderator between co-curriculum program quality and positive youth development in undergraduate students.

1.7.1 Hardiness in Youth Program Context

Along these lines, this study intends to expand the hardiness attitude to positive youth development programming contexts among Malaysian undergraduate students. The literature review affirmed the value of hardiness for positive development. However, few studies have examined the role of hardiness on positive youth development (Nezhad & Besharat, 2010; Skomorovsky & Sudom, 2011). Through a hardyattitude, undergraduate students may consider their interaction with adults in the program context and feel motivated to being engaged in the program activities. By this, undergraduate students are able to make decisions, which leads to positive outcomes such as self-confidence (Erbes et al., 2011), resiliency (Kermani & Mahani, 2015), and psychological well-being (Skomorovsky & Sudom, 2011).

Following the reasoning of Kobasa and co-workers (1982), among undergraduate students, hardiness can be a predictor of several positive psychosocial outcomes such as reduced stress (Abdollahi et al., 2016), happiness and emotional healthiness (Delahaij, Gaillard, & van Dam, 2010) through interpreting difficulties as opportunities for positive development.

To demonstrate that how hardiness affects the positive development of undergraduates, some further explanation is required. Hardiness evaluates the reasons why some students can deal with co-curriculum program activities, and why some students are not engaged in the program activities. There are individual differences in the perception, reaction, and ability to connect with the contexts. Undergraduates use hardiness as a way of understanding the relation with staff and to face challenges to achieve their goals.

Particularly, the collaboration of undergraduate students and program staff as adults within co-curriculum programs could elevate positive development. Thus, it is reasonable to expect that hardiness can improve the personal attitude of undergraduates to be engaged in program activities, collaborate with staff, and voice their ideas, which ends in positive development. That is, since co-curriculum programs have structure to prepare undergraduate students with a hardy-attitude, students could form meaningful relationships to raise the positive mutual relationships that are related to positive youth development (Linver et al., 2015; Patton et al., 2016).

1.8 Problem Statement

Youth program quality has become increasingly important to positive youth development. Low youth program quality has been shown to have negative associations with positive youth development (Bean, Kramers, Camiré, FraserThomas, & Forneris, 2018). When students lack connection to their program contexts, they are likely to become more excluded from program activities over time and this leads to less positive outcomes (Collura, 2016).

A strength-based positive youth development has been emphasised steadily over the past decades, in contrast to the deficit-approach (Brink & Wissing, 2012). Thus, the current study provides knowledge by utilising the strength-based approach to promote positive youth development. In Malaysia the youth population is a valuable asset as they are the future leaders for the continuity and sustainability of development (Ministry of Youth and Sports, Malaysia, 2019). Positive youth development arises by a purposeful process that provides opportunities, relationships, and support necessary for youth to realise their potential (Eichas, Ferrer-Wreder, & Olsson, 2019). Among university students, youth development occurs from the intentional process that promotes positive outcomes for undergraduate students by providing opportunities for them to participate in learning by taking part in activities (Chauveron, Linver, & Urban, 2016).

While a handful of studies have shown that program quality is important for the achievement of positive youth development, much of this literature is situated within a Western cultural context, where youth are more accustomed to engaging in powersharing and collaborating with adults as equals. Undergraduate students, as emerging adults, usually work closely with adults in co-curriculum program activities and lead the program, with the adults in advisory or partnership roles. The relational nature of these working relationships is predicated on effective youth-adult partnerships, where youth and adults engage in collaborative partnerships to maximise youth mattering and voice (Zeldin et al., 2017) since advantageous youth-adult partnership results to positive outcomes (Krauss et al., 2014).

Razzaq and colleagues (2011), reported that youth in their particular youth programs feel less involved in the creation and organizing of activities, and adults comprehend them as receivers rather than collaborators in program development initiatives. Accordingly, it is unsurprising that few youth feel actively involved in developing solutions to challenges that affect them (Razzaq et al., 2011).

In Malaysia, co-curricular programs are a key strategy for raising youth competencies and leadership proficiency (Mohamed et al., 2016). Youth-adult partnership is an issue of growing concern, however, due to continuously low youth participation in youth program activities (Krauss et al., 2020). These issues are of concern to Malaysian policy makers. They run counter to the inherently Malaysian collectivist culture, which includes common values and social believes (Malaysian Youth Index, 2016) by prioritizing connection to make youth for productive leadership roles and competencies, as well as for engagement in community development, societal issues, and universal citizenship besides adults (Ahmad et al., 2012).

Besides, in Malaysia, the quality of co-curriculum programs at undergraduate levels is not fully understood. Thus, the strategies like youth-adult partnerships are efficient strategies to engage undergraduate students in meaningful activities that contribute to positive youth development that can be infused into co-curriculum programs. The present study aims to strengthen the knowledge of how youth-adult partnerships can be optimised in cultural contexts where youth are not accustomed to working with adults. According to the Malaysian government and youth policy, it is intended to foster knowledgeable graduates with positive behaviours to contribute to a civilised country (Higher Education Development Plan 2015-2025). This has become the basic premise of the current study.

Researchers propose a significant reason that is youth-adult partnership is hard to perform with quality due to the power distance of Malaysia culture -PDI rate is 104 out of 120-(Hofstede, 2015). Many undergraduate students do not have the proficiency or orientation to make relationships with program staff as adults and share their ideas and making decisions as they be convinced by hierarchy systems and believe the hierarchy.

Undergraduate students as emerging adults in high power distance cultures, believe that authority and power are reality of life, and adults must make all decisions and also, they are less likely to participate in program activities and make partnership with program staff. Thus, the present study responds to this call as in Malaysia, where youth-adult relationships tend to be more heavily influenced by power distance, there is a dearth of research that explores these factors on the relationship between youth program quality and positive youth development.

Emerging adulthood is an important stage in the transition to maturity. Emerging adults in a high-power distance culture experience minimal adult support and deficit development of executive functioning making them at risk for reduced contribution in their developmental process. Thus, it is important to understand pathways to support positive development in undergraduate students as emerging adults.

Eccles and Gootman (2002) noted the importance of program context by arguing that program quality features need to fit well with youth participants, as the features exist as an interaction with the program setting and are not independent from one another.

The ability of youth to work with adults in collaborative relationships, feel safe and be fully engaged could be affected by feelings of power distance, or their ability and comfort level working with adults as equal partners. Furthermore, undergraduate students face many challenges such as new freedoms and independence, new duties, and new tasks with academic and social stress, during transition to university (Haas, Hendin & Mann, 2012).

 \bigcirc

In making future-oriented decisions despite the different stresses undergraduate students are experiencing, hardy attitudes are necessary to believe in the importance of connected with adults that are going on (commitment), have an influence on outcomes (control), and learn from their experiences (challenge) (Kobasa et al., 1982). As hardiness assists youth control stress (Vidrine et al., 2013), problem solving skills (Abdollahi, Hosseinian, Zamanshoar, Beh-Pajooh, & Carlbring, 2018), resiliency (Kermani & Mahani, 2015), and well-being (Rizvi, 2016), few studies have evaluated the relationship between

hardiness and positive youth development. After all, lack of hardy attitudes lead undergraduates to be affected by stressful settings by powerlessness and passivity, isolation and detachment, , and a threatened willing for safety and easy comfort (Maddi et al., 2012). Conceptually, therefore, the 3Cs of hardy attitudes are effective and useful in courageously facing the unsureness and ambiguity of experience.

This study explored the hardiness attitude to create a healthy student with respect to positive youth development to determine whether hardier students are more able and successful in working with adults in co-curriculum programs, and thus benefit more from their involvement. Hardier students are actively engaged in program activities by improving and keeping positive attitudes, which are aligned with a sense of responsibility, caring, faces with challenges, and engagement. Thus, hardiness could be as a moderator of relationship between youth program quality and positive youth development.

Against this backdrop, this study aims to examine the contribution of program quality to positive youth development, and further explores the role of hardiness and power distance as moderators of these relationships. The study focuses on public universities in Malaysia that prioritise positive youth development in alignment with the national youth development policy, which prioritises youth as a critical cohort for nation building.

1.9 Research Questions

Based on the study background and stated problem, this study explores the following questions:

- 1) What is the relationship between youth program quality (youth voice in decision making, supportive adult relationships, safe environment, and program engagement) and positive youth development among undergraduate students in public universities in Selangor, Malaysia?
- 2) To what extent does power distance moderate the relationship between youth program quality (youth voice in decision making, supportive adult relationships, safe environment, and program engagement) and positive youth development among undergraduate students in public universities in Selangor, Malaysia?
- 3) To what extent does hardiness moderate the relationship between youth program quality (youth voice in decision making, supportive adult relationships, safe environment, and program engagement) and positive youth development among undergraduate students in public universities in Selangor, Malaysia?

1.10 Research Objectives

General Objective

The main purpose of the present study is to examine the moderating roles of power distance and hardiness on the relationships between youth program quality and youth positive development among undergraduate students in Malaysian public universities.

Specific Objectives

The specific objectives of this study are:

- 1) To determine the relationship between youth program quality (youth voice in decision making, supportive adult relationships, safe environment, and program engagement) and positive youth development among undergraduate students in public universities in Selangor, Malaysia.
- 2) To determine the moderating role of power distance on the relationship between youth program quality (youth voice in decision making, supportive adult relationships, safe environment, and program engagement) and positive youth development among undergraduate students in public universities in Selangor, Malaysia.
- 3) To determine the moderating role of hardiness on the relationship between youth program quality (youth voice in decision making, supportive adult relationships, safe environment, and program engagement) and positive youth development among undergraduate students in public universities in Selangor, Malaysia.

1.11 Research Hypotheses

The present study employs hypotheses based on the objectives of the study as follows:

Objective 1:

Hypothesis 1) There is a significant positive relationship between youth voice in decision making and positive youth development among undergraduate students.
 Hypothesis 2) There is a significant positive relationship between supportive adult relationships and positive youth development among undergraduate students.

- Hypothesis 3) There is a significant positive relationship between a safe environment and positive youth development among undergraduate students.
- Hypothesis 4) There is a significant positive relationship between program engagement and positive youth development among undergraduate students

Objective 2:

- Hypothesis 5) Power distance negatively moderates the relationship between youth voice in decision making and positive youth development among undergraduate students.
- Hypothesis 6) Power distance negatively moderates the relationship between supportive adult relationships and positive youth development among undergraduate students.
- Hypothesis 7) Power distance negatively moderates the relationship between a safe environment and positive youth development among undergraduate students.
- Hypothesis 8) Power distance negatively moderates the relationship between program engagement and positive youth development among undergraduate students.

Objective 3:

Hypothesis 9)	The relationship between youth voice in decision making and
	positive youth development is moderated by hardiness among
	undergraduate students.
Hypothesis 10)	The relationship between supportive adult relationships and
	positive youth development is moderated by hardiness among
	undergraduate students.
Hypothesis 11)	The relationship between a safe environment and positive youth
	development is moderated by hardiness among undergraduate
	students.
Hypothesis 12)	The relationship between program engagement and positive youth
	development is moderated by hardiness among undergraduate
	students.

1.12 Significance of the Study

This study contributes to the field of positive youth development by extending our understanding of how PYD programs can be carried out more effectively in an understudied cultural context. First, a potential barrier to the effect of program quality and youth-adult partnership on PYD — power distance – and second, through a potential contributor to PYD – hardiness. In so doing, the study adds valuable knowledge to the application of bio-ecological system theory by empirically showing that undergraduate students with less supportive relationships with adults experience lower levels of PYD.
AS bio-ecological systems theory posits, development occurs through interactions between a youth and his/ her environment over time. The influence of these interactions varies based on characteristics of both the youth and the environment (Williams & Deutsch, 2016). The macro-system level of Bronfenbrenner's (1977) ecological framework is mentioned as the culture in which the individual is embedded, include of the cultural values, laws, and customs, which influence the micro-, meso-, and exo-systems (Algood, Harris, & Hong, 2013). While youth development programs influence development at the micro system level, more distal aspects of the macro system like culturally normative power-distance orientation between youth and adults can indirectly impact youth development.

In the case of countries with high power-distance, this often occurs through role expectations and working relationships between youth and their adult program leaders. Adults' perceived higher position in the society leads them to view youth as less experienced, capable, and competent. This perception, in turn, hinders adults' ability to value youths' views and program inputs (Hofstede, 2001; Punnahitanond, 2005). Youth, on the other hand, often avoid directly engaging with adult leaders out of fear of being seen as challenging adults' authority (Dawes & Larson, 2011). The resulting disconnect with adult program staff ends in youth not being able to benefit from adult guidance, knowledge, and wisdom. It can also reduce both parties' motivation to participate actively, thereby reducing the program's influence on youth development (Williams & Deutsch, 2016).

To offset these challenges, hardiness theory stresses that hardier youth will be more actively engaged in program activities by maintaining attitudes that are aligned with a sense of responsibility, caring, and engagement. As such, hardier youth tend to be better able to control and manage feelings, which enables them to comprehend stressful events as challenges rather than as threats (Florian, Mikulincer, & Taubman, 1995). A hardy psychological status can directly affect youth's program interactions by making them more willing to embrace opportunities to practice voice, making decisions, making relationships with adult program staff, and contributing to program activities even when adults are less forthcoming in providing opportunities to do so. Hardy coping contrasts sharply to addressing stressors through a regressive coping approach (Maddi et al., 2002) of denying and avoiding, which tends to be common in collectivist cultures characterized by sharp role distinctions between youth and adults and deference to authority figures (Akiva et al., 2014; Umar, et al., 2017). Therefore, youth who have adopted hardier attitudes might perceive the need to practice voice and making decisions in the face of challenging role expectations as an opportunity for growth, thus, neutralizing the challenge faced.

The outcomes of this study will add valuable knowledge to theoretical expansion by confirms the claims of the bio-ecological system theory by explaining empirically, that undergraduate students with poor relationships with adults are less engaged with society. Also, to the policy development through clarifying youth-adult partnership in co-curriculum programs. Also, regarding youth developmental programs, practitioners should combine the basis, values, and strategies of youth-adult partnership into youth

programs such as co-curriculum, structures such as planning bodies, practice like training, and communications, as the findings are the first to illustrate a potential linkage between youth program quality, power distance, hardiness, and youth positive development.

The study expands the bio-ecological systems theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1979) by integrating it with hardiness theory (Kobasa, 1979) to clarify the relations between the studied variables among Malaysian undergraduate students. Hardiness theory helps to explain the bio-ecological system theory within the co-curriculum program context. In the context of Malaysian universities, the combination of Malaysia's high-power distance organizational culture and the natural stress experienced by undergraduate students during the transitioning to university decreased the positive developmental outcomes of undergraduates. Hardiness theory can help to explain the psychological needs of youth and why some are able to benefit from their experiences in university co-curricular programs more than others.

Hardiness theory purports that when youth have sufficient and available resources to overcome challenges within their contexts, they are better able to manage stressors. Furthermore, the bio-ecological systems theory points to the mutual connection of youth and context that could affect their attitudes, which ends in positive development. As bio-ecological system theory states that co-curriculum programs are an important context to foster youth's positive development, hardiness as a positive attitude emerges in this context can change the student's attitude regarding having relationships in their setting and participating in program activities to making their own decisions. This contributes to the literature regarding positive youth development and program quality in Malaysia as a different cultural setting and for undergraduates as a specific sub-population of youth.

This study contributes to the local knowledge of co-curriculum programs. This study, therefore, is not only of use to the broader academic field, but it is an effort to improve the local co-curriculum program. From the perspective of empirical research, the study contributes by extending prior research through examining the psychological factors of youth program quality related to positive youth development in the context of a university. First, when considering the advantages of positive development in undergraduates it is important to account for the strong connection in the context, a low level of power distance, and a high level of hardiness.

Second, hardiness can alter the attitude of students and change their thoughts regarding participating in challenging activities and collaborating with adults. That is, since in Malaysia, PDI was rated as high, it negatively influences the relationships between youth and adults. Hence, hardiness, as a set of positive attitudes (commitment, control, and challenge) can change the concept of undergraduates about their connection to program staff in program setting. Thus, undergraduates through having high hardy attitude can experience low power distance, which raises positive development. Accordingly, the combined hardy attitudes of commitment, control, and challenge constitute the best

available operationalization of collaboration courage (Maddi, Khoshaba, Harvey, Fazel, & Resurreccion, 2011). The hardy attitudes structure how undergraduates think about their interaction with others in program setting and provide motivation to do difficult things.

When they occur together, the 3Cs of hardy attitudes facilitate awareness that undergraduates formulate life's meaning for themselves by the decisions they make, and that choosing the future regularly despite the stress of uncertainty leads to the most vibrant life. Specifically, the attitudes of commitment, control, and challenge framing undergraduates' hardiness correspond at the organizational level to the hardy values of cooperation, credibility, and creativity. When hardy undergraduates interact in program activities, translation occurs of their attitude of commitment into valuing collaboration with others, their attitude of control into valuing the credibility that signifies taking responsibility for actions, and their attitude of challenge into valuing creativity as the search for innovative problem solutions.

Third, power distance can affect the engagement of students in the program through altering their view of inequality in distributed power in society. By this, undergraduate students realise their own power that causes them to participate in decision-making procedures. These are important factors to incorporate into cocurriculum programs. Therefore, a further understanding of positive youth development among undergraduate students could lead to greater results.

In reviewing the accessible literature, as far as is known no research has been carried out regarding the relationships between youth programs, the influence of power distance and hardiness with positive youth development. This study can develop the knowledge and provide a deeper understanding of positive youth development and the quality of cocurriculum programs. Also, it can increase the literature related to hardiness and power distance with the positive development of youth in the context of university as this population is considered important to contribute to nation building.

From the perspective of national policy, improving positive development in undergraduate students is an essential aim of the Malaysian youth policy makers as youth are an important asset to the nation building. A generation with disengaged youth and less contribution from youth can ruin the life and character of the youth. In turn, this could make nation building difficult as youth would feel alienated from society and more vulnerable to risky behaviour such as illegal or criminal activities (Shamsudin et al., 2014). Thus, the outcomes could be useful for policy makers in organising behavioural policy in the national co-curriculum program to enhance developmental outcomes among undergraduate students. Accordingly, the Ministry of Youth and Sport and the Ministry of Higher Education should promote youth and training to develop useful youth program quality and to improve hardiness with the aim of raising positive developmental outcomes in undergraduate students as emerging adults.

From the perspective of university policy, undergraduate students are considered an important part of the nation due to the aim of the Malaysian government to prepare knowledgeable graduates with positive behaviours and desires to build a civilised society. Thus, universities should promote university-based co-curriculum programs and training for effective hardiness to increase positive attitudes toward contribution to society during adulthood. It will inform the university counsellors so that they are able to recognise any deficiency of the engagement of students in the program and to assist students to manage any less engagement in the program appropriately, such that the result is positive development, which leads to healthier communities.

The findings from this study are useful for program staff as adults, since they will be able to recognise any disengagement of students from program activities. Additionally, the process of program participation and decision-making requires supportive staff and settings. Through this, students may gain a great understanding of beneficial resources and supportive relationships. Therefore, this supportive context equips students to manage difficulties effectively, and ultimately it contributes to an increase in positive development, which leads to powerful youth for society.

From the perspective of university co-curricular practice, since program quality contributes to the emergence of positive youth development, these factors along with the attitude of students (hardiness) and their perception of power distribution (power distance) are central to the comprehension of positive youth development and importantly, its intervention in the understudied Malaysian culture. This study provides a special selection of recently produced work, which entail new approaches to the study of positive youth development in Malaysia as an Asian collectivist culture and provides a timely relevant overview of current investigation into positive youth development and its applications.

1.13 Scope of the Study

This study was carried out in the state of Selangor in Malaysia since this state is the most populated state in Malaysia. The population of this study included undergraduate students at public universities aged 19 to 24 years old who attended co-curriculum programs offered by the universities. Also, this study used correlational design regarding data analyses.

1.14 Definition of Terms

1.14.1 Positive Youth Development (PYD)

Conceptual definition: Positive Youth Development is defined according to the definition by Lerner and colleagues, (2006). Positive youth development comes about as an intentional procedure which enhances positive outcomes for youth through offering

opportunities, connections, and support to increase the results of Competence, Character, Caring, Confidence, Connections, and Contribution.

Operational definition: In this study, positive youth development was operationalised according to the measure by Arnold and Gifford (2014), which included the Six C's (as listed above) of the Positive Youth Development Inventory (PYDI) to assess the positive youth development.

1.14.2 Youth Program Quality (YPQ)

Conceptual definition: In this study, program quality is defined and operationalised from a developmental view. Program quality is based on the experiences that take place in the program context, comprising the relationships between staff and youth, the psychosocial safety of the program, and the engagement of youth in the program activities.

Operational definition: While the literature puts forth many different formulations of program quality, in this study program quality was measured by four measures: youth voice in decision making, supportive adult relationship, a safe environment, and program engagement by using the Youth Program Quality Scale by Zeldin and colleagues (2014).

1.14.3 Power Distance

Conceptual definition: Power distance refers to the way in which power is distributed and the extent to which the less powerful accept that power is distributed unequally.

Operational definition: Power distance refers to the score of the respondent on the scale developed by Dorfman and Howell (1988).

1.14.4 Hardiness

Conceptual definition: Hardiness has been identified as a cognitive capability including three components (Commitment, Control, and Challenge). Commitment is explained as an attitude of managing difficulties and changing those difficulties into meaningful situations. Control is described as attitudes and thoughts with which a person has an influencing role in an event. Challenge is defined as an attitude that can change an unwanted event into an opportunity for positive development (Kobasa, 1979b).

Operational definition: Hardiness refers to the score of the respondent on the Personal Views Survey (PVS-III-R; Maddi and colleagues, 2006). A higher score means that the respondent has a higher attitude of hardiness, and vice versa.

1.14.5 Demographic characteristics

Conceptual definition: Demographic characteristics are a series of features and properties of a person to determine his or her description (Christenson, Rounds, & Gorney, 1992).

Operational definition: Demographic characteristics in the present study refer to the household size, time spent on co-curriculum program activities, collaboration with program staff, age, gender, and ethnicity.

1.15 Assumptions of the Study

The main assumption of this study is that hardier undergraduate students, and students who experience less power distance, will benefit more from PYD. According to hardiness theory (Kobasa, 1979b), hardiness is a set of beliefs about oneself, the world, and how they interact. Specifically, hardiness changes two appraisal incorporators: it decreases the appraisal of threat and increases one's beliefs that coping attempts will be successful. Accordingly, hardier undergraduate students take control of their lives, believe that commitment to program activities will result in positive outcomes, and comprehend stressors as challenges.

Moreover, Bronfenbrenner (1979), in bioecological systems theory, sets that youth development is a transactional procedures in which development is affected by youth's interplay among the social setting. This theory sets that youth development is affected by youth's communications with others, and the nature of those communications. Youth who are given considerable support by adults, in the form of close partnerships, to make decisions, therefore, benefit more from these opportunities for positive development.

The deficiency of beneficial youth-adult partnership and high-power distance orientation are negatively related to youth's positive development. This is further supported by a secondary assumption that in Malaysia, as a collectivist culture, high power distance orientation ensures that program staff as adults usually make decisions in youth program setting. Thus, this study examines these relationships within programs, specifically the relationships between undergraduate students and program staff, and the relevancy with undergraduate's positive development.

1.16 Chapter Summary

The first chapter as an introduction to the present study discussed positive youth development among undergraduate students, and the relationship between the study variables (youth program quality as an exogenous variable, power distance and hardiness as moderators) and positive youth development as an endogenous variable.

Among youth development programs, the positive development of youth, especially, their contribution to program activities is a focus under the citizenship mission mandate. The contribution of undergraduates is important because it assists in positive development by allowing undergraduates to explore their internal motivations, establish a sense of control over their lives, and develop a moral understanding. Finally, the background of the study, problem statement, research questions, research objectives, research hypotheses, significance, and scope of the study, and finally, the conceptual framework and operational definitions are explained.

REFERENCES

- Ab Ghani, S., Awang, M. M., Ajit, G., & Rani, M. A. M. (2020). Participation in CoCurriculum Activities and Students' Leadership Skills. *Journal of Southwest Jiaotong University*, 55(4).
- Abdollahi, A., Talib, M. A., Yaacob, S.N., et al. (2014). Problem-solving skills and hardiness as protective factors against stress in Iranian nurses. *Isuues in Mental Health Nursing*, *35*(2), 100–107.
- Abdollahi, A., & Abu Talib, M. (2015). Hardiness, spirituality, and suicidal ideation among individuals with substance abuse: The moderating role of gender and marital status. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, 11(1), 12–21.
- Abdollahi, A., Abu Talib, M., Carlbring, P., Harvey, R., Yaacob, S. N., & Ismail, Z. (2018). Problem-solving skills and perceived stress among undergraduate students: The moderating role of hardiness. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 23(10), 1321–1331.
- Abdollahi, A., Abu Talib, M., Yaacob, S. N., & Ismail, Z. (2015). The role of hardiness in decreasing stress and suicidal ideation in a sample of undergraduate students. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 55(2), 202–222.
- Abdollahi, A., Carlbring, P., Vaez, E., & Ghahfarokhi, S. A. (2018). Perfectionism and test anxiety among high-school students: The moderating role of academic hardiness. *Current Psychology*, *37*(3), 632–639.
- Abdollahi, A., Hosseinian, S., Nooripour, R., & Najafi, M. (2017). Clarifying the Roles of Hardiness and Hopelessness in Relation to Suicidal Ideation Among Malaysian Undergraduate Students. *Practice in Clinical Psychology*, 5(4), 243– 250.
- Abdollahi, A., Hosseinian, S., Zamanshoar, E., Beh-Pajooh, A., & Carlbring, P. (2018). The moderating effect of hardiness on the relationships between problemsolving skills and perceived stress with suicidal ideation in nursing students. *Studia Psychologica*, 60(1), 30–41. https://doi.org/doi: 10.21909/sp.2018.01.750
- Abdollahi, A., Talib, M. A., Carlbring, P., Harvey, R., Yaacob, S. N., & Ismail, Z. (2016). Problem-solving skills and perceived stress among undergraduate students: The moderating role of hardiness. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 1359105316653265.
- Adams, D., Nam, Y., Shanks, T. R. W., Hicks, S., & Robinson, C. (2010). Research on assets for children and youth: Reflections on the past and prospects for the future. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 32(11), 1617–1621.

- Ahern, N. R., & Norris, A. E. (2011). Examining factors that increase and decrease stress in adolescent community college students. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 26(6), 530–540.
- Ahmad, A. L., Rahim, S. A., Pawanteh, L., & Ahmad, F. (2012). The understanding of environmental citizenship among Malaysian youths: A study on perception and participation. *Asian Social Science*, 8(5), 85.
- Akiva, T., Cortina, K. S., Eccles, J. S., & Smith, C. (2014). Youth belonging and cognitive engagement in organized activities: A large-scale field study. *Journal* of Applied Developmental Psychology, 34(5), 208–218.
- Akiva, T., & Petrokubi, J. (2016). Growing with youth: A lifewide and lifelong perspective on youth-adult partnership in youth programs. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 69, 248–258.
- Algood, C. L., Harris, C., & Hong, J. S. (2013). Parenting success and challenges for families of children with disabilities: An ecological systems analysis. *Journal* of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 23(2), 126–136.
- Anderson, K. S., & Sandmann, L. (2009). Toward a model of empowering practices in youth-adult partnerships. *Journal of Extension*, 47(2), 1–8.
- Anyon, Y., Kennedy, H., Durbahn, R., & Jenson, J. M. (2018). Youth-Led Participatory Action Research: Promoting Youth Voice and Adult Support in Afterschool Programs. *Afterschool Matters*, 27, 10–18.
- Archambault, I., Janosz, M., Goulet, M., Dupéré, V., & Gilbert-Blanchard, O. (2019). Promoting student engagement from childhood to adolescence as a way to improve positive youth development and school completion. In *Handbook of Student Engagement Interventions* (pp. 13–29). Elsevier.
- Armour, K., & Sandford, R. (2013). Positive youth development through an outdoor physical activity programme: Evidence from a four-year evaluation. *Educational Review*, 65(1), 85–108.
- Armstrong, W. A. (2010). *Life skills development of youth participants in 4-h clubs and camping*. University of Florida.
- Arnold, M E, & Gifford, L. N. (2014). YA4-H! Youth advocates for health-Building successful youth-adult partnerships. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University Public Health Extension.
- Arnold, Mary E. (2015). Connecting the dots: Improving Extension program planning with program umbrella models. *Journal of Human Sciences and Extension*, 3(2).
- Asefa., A. (2011). Exploring factors motivating and Hindering youth participation in Youth development program in Ethiopia. Chicago: University of Illiinios.

- Augsberger, A., Collins, M. E., Gecker, W., & Dougher, M. (2018). Youth civic engagement: Do youth councils reduce or reinforce social inequality? *Journal* of Adolescent Research, 33(2), 187–208.
- Averett, P., Crowe, A., & Hall, C. (2015). The youth public arts program: Interpersonal and intrapersonal outcomes for at-risk youth. *Journal of* Creativity *in Mental Health*, *10*(3), 306–323. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/15401383.2015.1027840
- Avika, T., & Horner, C. G. (2016). Adolescent motivation to attend youth programs: A mixed-methods investigation. Applied Deve. *Lopmental Science*, 20(4), 279– 293. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2015.1127162
- Awang, Z. (2012). A handbook on SEM: Structural equation modeling. Universiti Teknologi MARA Publication.
- Ayala Calvo, J., & García, G. M. (2018). Hardiness as moderator of the relationship between structural and psychological empowerment on burnout in middle managers. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 91(2), 362–384.
- Babbie, E. (2012). *The practice of social research*. USA:Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Baber, K. M., & Rainer, A. (2011). Shortridge academy: positive youth development in action within a therapeutic community. Advances in Child Development and Behavior, 41, 309–348.
- Badura, P., Geckova, A. M., Sigmundova, D., Sigmund, E., van Dijk, J. P., & Reijneveld, S. A. (2018). Can organized leisure-time activities buffer the negative outcomes of unstructured activities for adolescents' health? *International Journal of Public Health*, 63(6), 743–751.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173. https://doi.org/doi:10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Bartone, P. T. (2006). Resilience under military operational stress: Can leaders influence hardiness? *Military Psychology*, 18(S), S131.
- Bartone, P. T., Roland, R. R., Picano, J. J., & Williams, T. J. (2008). Psychological hardiness predicts success in US Army Special Forces candidates. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 16(1), 78–81.
- Basabe, N., & Ros, M. (2005). Cultural dimensions and social behavior correlates: Individualism-Collectivism and Power Distance. *International Review of Social Psychology*, 18(1), 189–225.

- Bean, C., & Forneris, T. (2016). Examining the importance of intentionally structuring the youth sport context to facilitate positive youth development. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 28(4), 410–425.
- Bean, C., Kramers, S., Camiré, M., Fraser-Thomas, J., & Forneris, T. (2018). Development of an observational measure assessing program quality processes in youth sport. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 4(1), 1467304.
- Beasley, M., Thompson, T., & Davidson, J. (2003). Resilience in response to life stress: the effects of coping style and cognitive hardiness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(1), 77–95.
- Benson, P. L. (2007). Developmental assets: An overview of theory, research, and practice. *Approaches to Positive Youth Development*, 33–58.
- Benson, P. L., Leffert, N., Scales, P. C., & Blyth, D. A. (1998). Beyond the village rhetoric: Creating healthy communities for children and adolescents. *Applied Developmental Science*, 2(3), 138–159.
- Benson, P. L., Leffert, N., Scales, P. C., & Blyth, D. A. (2012). Beyond the "village" rhetoric: Creating healthy communities for children and adolescents. *Applied Developmental Science*, *16*(1), 3–23.
- Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., Hamilton, S. F., & Sesma Jr, A. (2007). Positive youth development: Theory, research, and applications. *Handbook of Child Psychology*, 1.
- Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., & Syvertsen, A. K. (2010). The contribution of the developmental assets framework to positive youth development theory and practice. Advances in Child Development and Behavior, 41, 197–230.
- Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., & Syvertsen, A. K. (2011). The contribution of the developmental assets framework to positive youth development theory and practice. In Advances in child development and behavior (Vol. 41, pp. 197– 230). Elsevier.
- Betz, N. E., & Campbell, C. (2003). Self-efficacy and personality correlates of instrumentality. *Unpublished Manuscript*.
- Blanchet-Cohen, N., & Brunson, L. (2014). Creating settings for youth empowerment and leadership: An ecological perspective. *Child & Youth Services*, *35*(3), 216–236.
- Blanchet-Cohen, N., Manolson, S., & Shaw, K. (2014). Youth-led decision making in community development grants. *Youth & Society*, 46(6), 819–834.
- Bonett, D. G. (2002). Sample size requirements for estimating intraclass correlations with desired precision. *Statistics in Medicine*, 21(9), 1331–1335.

- Bowers, E.P., Waren, D.J.A., johnson, S.K., Lerner, J. (2015). youth- Adult Relationships and Positive Youth Development (pp. 97–120). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-17166.1_6
- Bowers, E. P., Geldhof, G. J., Johnson, S. K., Lerner, J. V, & Lerner, R. M. (2014). Special issue introduction: Thriving across the adolescent years: A view of the issues. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43(6), 859–868.
- Bowers, E. P., Geldhof, G. J., Schmid, K. L., Napolitano, C. M., Minor, K., & Lerner, J. V. (2012). Relationships with important nonparental adults and positive youth development: An examination of youth self-regulatory strengths as mediators. *Research in Human Development*, 9(4), 298–316.
- Bowers, E. P., Johnson, S. K., Warren, D. J. A., Tirrell, J. M., & Lerner, J. V. (2015). Youth-adult relationships and positive youth development. In *Promoting positive youth development* (pp. 97–120). Springer.
- Bowers, E. P., Napolitano, C. M., Arbeit, M. R., Chase, P., Glickman, S. A., Lerner, R. M., & Lerner, J. V. (2013). On a pathway towards thriving: Evaluating the effectiveness of tools to promote positive development and intentional self regulation in youth. *Journal of Youth Development*, 8(3), 31.
- Brewer, S. E., Nicotera, N., Veeh, C., & Laser-Maira, J. A. (2018). Predictors of positive youth development in first-year college students. *Journal of American College Health*, (just-accepted), 1–32.
- Brink, A. J. W., & Wissing, M. P. (2012). A model for a positive youth development intervention. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Mental Health*, 24(1), 1–13.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1998). The ecology of developmental processes. In *Handbook of child psychology* (In R.M. Le, pp. 1029–1144). New York, NY: New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (2005). *Making human beings human: Bioecological perspectives on human development*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Bronfenbrenner, Urie. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist*, *32*(7), 513.
- Bronfenbrenner, Urie. (1979). The ecology of human development: Experiments by design and nature. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, Urie. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Developmental Psychology*, 22(6), 723.
- Bronfenbrenner, Urie. (1988). Interacting systems in human development. Research paradigms: Present and future. *Persons in Context: Developmental Processes*, 25–49.

- Bronfenbrenner, Urie, & Evans, G. W. (2000). Developmental science in the 21st century: Emerging questions, theoretical models, research designs and empirical findings. *Social Development*, 9(1), 115–125.
- Byrne, B. M. (2010). Structural Equation Modeling With AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming, (Second Edi). Routledge Academic.
- Camino, L., Zeldin, R. S., Mook, C., & O'Connor, C. (2006). Youth and adult leaders for program excellence (YALPE): A practical guide for program assessment and action planning. *Ithaca, NY: ACT for Youth Center of Excellence (Www. Actforyouth. Net.*
- Campbell, D., Trzesniewski, K., Nathaniel, K., Enfield, R., & Erbstein, N. (2013). Positive youth development merits state investment. *California Agriculture*, 67(1), 38–46.
- Chan, D. W. (2003). Hardiness and its role in the stress-burnout relationship among prospective Chinese teachers in Hong Kong. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 19(4), 381–395.
- Chand, N., Farruggia, S., Dittman, C., Sanders, M., & Ting Wai Chu, J. (2013). Promoting positive youth development: Through a brief parenting intervention program. *Youth Studies Australia*, 32(1), 29.
- Chauveron, L. M., Linver, M. R., & Urban, J. B. (2016). Intentional Self Regulation and Positive Youth Development: Implications for Youth Development Programs. *Journal of Youth Development*, 10(3), 89–101.
- Checkoway, B., & Aldana, A. (2013). Four forms of youth civic engagement for diverse democracy. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *35*(11), 1894–1899.
- Chen, B.-B., Wiium, N., & Dimitrova, R. (2019). A life history approach to understanding developmental assets among Chinese adolescents. In *Child & Youth Care Forum* (Vol. 48, pp. 155–169). Springer.
- Chien, W.-C. (2015). Application of Item Parceling in Structural Equation Modeling: A Correlational Study of Undergraduate Students' Academic Behavior, Employability, and Employment Performance. *International Journal of Intelligent Technologies & Applied Statistics*, 8(1).
- Christens, B. D. (2012). Toward relational empowerment. American Journal of Community Psychology, 50(1–2), 114–128.
- Christens, B. D., & Peterson, N. A. (2012). The role of empowerment in youth development: A study of sociopolitical control as mediator of ecological systems' influence on developmental outcomes. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 41(5), 623–635.

- Christens, B. D., Peterson, N. A., Reid, R. J., & Garcia-Reid, P. (2015). Adolescents' perceived control in the sociopolitical domain: A latent class analysis. *Youth & Society*, 47(4), 443–461.
- Christenson, S. L., Rounds, T., & Gorney, D. (1992). Family factors and student achievement: An avenue to increase students' success. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 7(3), 178.
- Chung, H. L., Jusu, B., Christensen, K., Venescar, P., & Tran, D. (2018). Investigating motivation and engagement in an urban afterschool arts and leadership program. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 46(2), 187–201.
- Ciocanel, O., Power, K., Eriksen, A., & Gillings, K. (2017). Effectiveness of positive youth development interventions: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *46*(3), 483–504.
- Collura, J. J. (2016). Young people's perspectives on quality afterschool programming. The University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Crocetti, E., Erentaitė, R., & Žukauskienė, R. (2014). Identity styles, positive youth development, and civic engagement in adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43(11), 1818–1828.
- Cross, A. B., Gottfredson, D. C., Wilson, D. M., Rorie, M., & Connell, N. (2010). Implementation quality and positive experiences in after-school programs. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(3–4), 370–380.
- Daniels, M. A., & Greguras, G. J. (2014). Exploring the nature of power distance: Implications for micro-and macro-level theories, processes, and outcomes. *Journal of Management*, 40(5), 1202–1229.
- Davis, J. R., & Warner, N. (2015). Schools matter: The positive relationship between New York City high schools' student academic progress and school climate. Urban Education, 0042085915613544.
- Dawes, N. P., & Larson, R. (2011). How youth get engaged: Grounded-theory research on motivational development in organized youth programs. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(1), 259–269. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020729
- Delahaij, R., Gaillard, A. W. K., & van Dam, K. (2010). Hardiness and the response to stressful situations: Investigating mediating processes. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49(5), 386–390.
- Department of Statistics, M. (2020). Department of Statistics, Malaysia. Retrieved from www.Department of Statistics, Malaysia.

Dewey, J. (1938). The theory of inquiry. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Wiston.

- Donlan, A. E., McDermott, E. R., & Zaff, J. F. (2017). Building relationships between mentors and youth: Development of the TRICS model. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 79, 385–398.
- Dorfman, P. W., & Howell, J. P. (1988). Dimensions of national culture and effective leadership patterns: Hofstede revisited. Advances in International Comparative Management, 3(1), 127–150.
- Dotse, J., & Asumeng, M. (2016). Power distance as moderator of the relationship between organizational leadership style and employee work attitudes: An empirical study in Ghana. *International Journal of Management Sciences and Business Research*.
- Duke, A. (2013). A Different Voice: Examining Positive Youth Development in African American Girls through Youth Participatory Action Research.
- Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., & Pachan, M. (2010). A meta-analysis of afterschool programs that seek to promote personal and social skills in children and adolescents. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(3–4), 294–309.
- Eby, L. T., Butts, M. M., Durley, J., & Ragins, B. R. (2010). Are bad experiences stronger than good ones in mentoring relationships? Evidence from the protégé and mentor perspective. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 77(1), 81–92.
- Eccles, J. S., & Gootman, J. A. (2002). Features of positive developmental settings. Community Programs to Promote Youth Development, 86–118.
- Eichas, K., Ferrer-Wreder, L., & Olsson, T. M. (2019). Contributions of positive youth development to intervention science. In *Child & Youth Care Forum* (Vol. 48, pp. 279–287). Springer.
- Erbes, C. R., Arbisi, P. A., Kehle, S. M., Ferrier-Auerbach, A. G., Barry, R. A., & Polusny, M. A. (2011). The distinctiveness of hardiness, positive emotionality, and negative emotionality in National Guard soldiers. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 45(5), 508–512.
- Eschleman, K.J., Bowling, N.A., Alarcon, G. M. (2010). A meta-analytic examination of hardiness. *International Journal of Stress Management*, (17), 227. https://doi.org/Doi: 10.1037/a0020476.
- Fan, Y., Chen, J., Shirkey, G., John, R., Wu, S. R., Park, H., & Shao, C. (2016). Applications of structural equation modeling (SEM) in ecological studies: an updated review. *Ecological Processes*, 5(1), 19.
- Flage, L., Vettern, R., Schmidt, M., & Eighmy, M. (2010). Can Adults Accept Youth as Equal Partners in Communities? *Journal of Extension*, 48(1), n1.
- Flanagan, C. A. (2013). *Teenage citizens: The political theories of the young*. Harvard University Press.

- Flanagan, C. A., Kim, T., Collura, J., & Kopish, M. A. (2015). Community service and adolescents' social capital. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 25(2), 295– 309.
- Flanagan, C., & Levine, P. (2010). Civic engagement and the transition to adulthood. *The Future of Children*, 20(1), 159–179.
- Florian, V., Mikulincer, M., & Taubman, O. (1995). Does hardiness contribute to mental health during a stressful real-life situation? The roles of appraisal and coping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 68(4), 687.
- Foo, X. Y., Alwi, M. N. M., Ismail, S. I. F., Ibrahim, N., & Osman, Z. J. (2014). Religious commitment, attitudes toward suicide, and suicidal behaviors among college students of different ethnic and religious groups in Malaysia. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 53(3), 731–746.
- Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 39–50.
- Fredricks, J. A., Naftzger, N., Smith, C., & Riley, A. (2017). Measuring youth participation, program quality, and social and emotional skills in after-school programs. In *After-school programs to promote positive youth development* (pp. 23–43). Springer.
- Fredricks, J. A., & Simpkins, S. D. (2012). Promoting positive youth development through organized after-school activities: Taking a closer look at participation of ethnic minority youth. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(3), 280–287.
- Fu, X., Lv, Y., Yang, Z., Yu, X., & Wang, R. (2018). Chinese adolescents' power distance value and prosocial behavior toward powerful people: A longitudinal study. *PloS One*, 13(12), e0208473.
- Gannett, E.S., Clark, R., Clarke, B., Richards, S., Weinstock, D. M. (2013). Exploring the initial stages of a quality improvement system. In *Session presented at Wallace Foundation's Better Together Conference, Baltimore, MD*.
- Garrosa, E., Moreno-Jimenez, B., Liang, Y., & Gonzalez, J. L. (2008). The relationship between socio-demographic variables, job stressors, burnout, and hardy personality in nurses: An exploratory study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 45(3), 418–427.
- Gaygisiz, E. (2013). How are cultural dimensions and governance quality related to socioeconomic development? *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, 47, 170–179.
- Geldhof, G. J., Bowers, E. P., Johnson, S. K., Hershberg, R., Hilliard, L., Lerner, J. V, & Lerner, R. M. (2014). Relational developmental systems theories of positive youth development: Methodological issues and implications.

- Geldhof, G. J., Bowers, E. P., Mueller, M. K., Napolitano, C. M., Callina, K. S., Walsh, K. J., ... Lerner, R. M. (2015). The five Cs model of positive youth development. In *Promoting Positive Youth Development* (pp. 161–186). Springer.
- Gestsdottir, S., Bowers, E., von Eye, A., Napolitano, C. M., & Lerner, R. M. (2010). Intentional self regulation in middle adolescence: The emerging role of lossbased selection in positive youth development. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 39(7), 764–782.
- Gestsdottir, S., Geldhof, G. J., Paus, T., Freund, A. M., Adalbjarnardottir, S., Lerner, J. V, & Lerner, R. M. (2015). Self-regulation among youth in four Western cultures: Is there an adolescence-specific structure of the SelectionOptimization-Compensation (SOC) model? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 39(4), 346–358.
- Gini, G., Pozzoli, T., & Hymel, S. (2014). Moral disengagement among children and youth: A meta-analytic review of links to aggressive behavior. *Aggressive Behavior*, 40(1), 56–68.
- Green, S. B. (1991). How many subjects does it take to do a regression analysis? *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 26(3), 499–510.
- Greene, K. M., Lee, B., Constance, N., & Hynes, K. (2013). Examining youth and program predictors of engagement in out-of-school time programs. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *42*(10), 1557–1572.
- Guo, W., & Lu, J. (2018). Assessing instructional leadership from two mindsets in China: power distance as a moderator. *Educational Assessment, Evaluation and Accountability*, 30(4), 433–455.
- Haas, A. P., Hendin, H., & Mann, J. J. (2012). SUICIDE and COLLEGE STUDENTS. American Foundation for Suicide Prevention, 46(9), 1224–1240.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., Anderson, R. E., & Tatham, R. L. (2006). Multivariate data analysis: A global perspective (c) (Vol. 7). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Babin, B. J., & Black, W. C. (2010). Multivariate data analysis: A global perspective (Vol. 7). Pearson Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Hamre, B., Hatfield, B., Pianta, R., & Jamil, F. (2014). Evidence for general and domainspecific elements of teacher-child interactions: Associations with preschool children's development. *Child Development*, 85(3), 1257–1274.
- Hanton, S., Neil, R., & Evans, L. (2013). Hardiness and anxiety interpretation: An investigation into coping usage and effectiveness. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 13(1), 96–104.

- Harrisson, M., Loiselle, C. G., Duquette, A., & Semenic, S. E. (2002). Hardiness, work support and psychological distress among nursing assistants and registered nurses in Quebec. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 38(6), 584–591.
- Heinze, H. J., Jozefowicz, D. M. H., & Toro, P. A. (2010). Taking the youth perspective: Assessment of program characteristics that promote positive development in homeless and at-risk youth. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 32(10), 1365– 1372.
- Hirsch, B. J., Deutsch, N. L., & DuBois, D. L. (2011). After-school centers and youth development: Case studies of success and failure. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511994913
- Ho, Khee Hoong and Abdul Kadir, R. (2013). THE RELATIONSHIP OF HARDINESS AND STRESS (pp. 52–54). In: Graduate Research in Education Seminar (GREduc 2013),1 Dec. 2013, Faculty of Educational Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Hoeben, E. M., Meldrum, R. C., Walker, D., & Young, J. T. N. (2016). The role of peer delinquency and unstructured socializing in explaining delinquency and substance use: A state-of-the-art review. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 47, 108–122.
- Hofstede, G. (1980). Culture's Consequences, London: Sage.
- Hofstede, G. J. (2015). Culture's causes: The next challenge. Cross Cultural Management, 22(4), 545-569.
- Hofstede, G. (1997). Cultures and Organizations: Software of the Mind McGraw Hill New York Google Scholar.
- Hofstede, Geert. (1983). The cultural relativity of organizational practices and theories. Journal of International Business Studies, 14(2), 75–89.
- Hofstede, Geert. (1991). Cultures and organizations. Intercultural cooperation and its importance for survival. Software of the mind. *London: Mc Iraw-Hill*.
- Hofstede, Geert. (1994). The business of international business is culture. *International Business Review*, *3*(1), 1–14.
- Hofstede, Geert. (2001). Culture's consequences: Comparing values, behaviors, institutions and organizations across nations. Sage publications.
- Hofstede, Geert. (2011). Dimensionalizing cultures: The Hofstede model in context. Online Readings in Psychology and Culture, 2(1), 8.
- Hofstede, Geert, & Bond, M. H. (1984). Hofstede's culture dimensions: An independent validation using Rokeach's value survey. *Journal of CrossCultural Psychology*, *15*(4), 417–433.

- Holt, N. L., Neely, K. C., Slater, L. G., Camiré, M., Côté, J., Fraser-Thomas, J., ... Tamminen, K. A. (2017). A grounded theory of positive youth development through sport based on results from a qualitative meta-study. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 10(1), 1–49.
- Hoque, A., & Awang, Z. (2019). Does gender difference play moderating role in the relationship between entrepreneurial marketing and Bangladeshi SME performance? Accounting, 5(1), 35–52.
- Hoque, A., Awang, Z., Siddiqui, B. A., & Sabiu, M. S. (2018). Role of employee engagement on compensation system and employee performance relationship among telecommunication service providers in Bangladesh. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 8(3), 19–37.
- Hsieh, C. J., Hsieh, H. Y., Chen, P. H., Hsiao, Y. L., & Lee, S. (2004). The relationship between hardiness, coping strategies and burnout in psychiatric nurses. *Hu Li* Za Zhi The Journal of Nursing, 51(3), 24–33.
- Hurd, N. M., Sánchez, B., Zimmerman, M. A., & Caldwell, C. H. (2012). Natural mentors, racial identity, and educational attainment among African American adolescents: Exploring pathways to success. *Child Development*, 83(4), 1196– 1212.
- Israel, G. D. (1992). *Determining sample size*. Gainesville: University of Florida Cooperative Extension Service.
- Jacquez, F., Vaughn, L. M., & Wagner, E. (2013). Youth as partners, participants or passive recipients: A review of children and adolescents in community-based participatory research (CBPR). *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 51(1-2), 176–189.
- Judkins, S., & Rind, R. (2005). Hardiness, job satisfaction, and stress among home health nurses. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, *17*(2), 113–118.
- Kadir, A., Ba'yah, N., Rahim, S. A., Mustapha, Z., Mutalib, A., Hanida, M., ... Mohamed, R. H. (2012). External Assets as Predictors of Positive Emotions Among At-Risk Youth in Malaysia. Asian Social Work and Policy Review, 6(3), 203–217.
- Keller, T. E., & Pryce, J. M. (2010). Mutual but unequal: Mentoring as a hybrid of familiar relationship roles. *New Directions for Student Leadership*, 2010(126), 33–50.
- Kenny, D. A., Kaniskan, B., & McCoach, D. B. (2015). The performance of RMSEA in models with small degrees of freedom. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 44(3), 486–507.

- Kermani, G.N., &Mahani, Z. B. N. (2015a). Relationship between psychological hardiness, their resiliency and hope to psychological well-being of nursing students of Kerman Razi University in the academic Year 2014- 2015. Jurnal UMP Social Sciences and Technology Management, 3(3), 193–196.
- Kermani, G.N., &Mahani, Z. B. N. (2015b). Relationship between psychological hardiness, their resiliency and hope to psychological well-being of nursing students of Kerman Razi University in the academic Year 2014-2015. Jurnal UMP Social Sciences and Technology Management, 3(3), 193–196.
- Kline, R. B. (2005). *Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling*. (Guilford, New York).
- Kline, R. B. (2010). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling*. New York.The Guilford Press.
- Kline, R. B. (2011). Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling, 3rd edn Guilford Press. *New York*.
- Kobasa, S. C. (1979a). Personality and resistance to illness. American Journal of Community Psychology, 7(4), 413–423.
- Kobasa, S. C. (1979b). Stressful life events, personality, and health: an inquiry into hardiness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *37*(1), 1.
- Kobasa, S. C., Maddi, S. R., & Kahn, S. (1982). Hardiness and health: a prospective study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 42(1), 168.
- Krauss, S.E., Ortega, A., Haslinda, A., Azimi, H., Turiman, S., Ismi, A.I., Nobaya, A. (2013). Toward benchmarking youth engagement with adults in the Malaysian youth service through cross-national research. *Malaysian Journal of Youth Studies*, 8, 55–72.
- Krauss, S. E., Collura, J., Zeldin, S., Ortega, A., Abdullah, H., & Sulaiman, A. H. (2014). Youth–adult partnership: Exploring contributions to empowerment, agency and community connections in Malaysian youth programs. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43(9), 1550–1562.
- Krauss, S. E., Idris, K., Tamam, E., Suandi, T., Ismail, I. A., Bandar, N. F. A., & Dahalan, D. (2012). Exploring professionalism among youth work practitioners in Malaysia: A measurement development study. *Young*, 20(3), 297–322.
- Krauss, S. E., Kornbluh, M., & Zeldin, S. (2017). Community predictors of school engagement: The role of families and youth-adult partnership in Malaysia. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 73, 328–337.
- Krauss, S. E., Zeldin, S., Abdullah, H., Ortega, A., Ali, Z., Ismail, I. A., & Ariffin, Z. (2020). Malaysian Youth Associations as Places for Empowerment and Engagement. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 104939.

- Kuan, G., Abdullah, N., Kueh, Y. C., Ismail, M., Shafei, M. N., & Morris, T. (2019). Cocurricular activities and motives for participating in physical activity among health sciences students at Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia. *The Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences: MJMS*, 26(1), 138.
- Kwan Meng, L. (2012a). Influence of mentoring on learning outcomes in a pioneering school-based 'International Award for Young People'programme in Malaysia. Unpublished PhD Thesis, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia.
- Kwan Meng, L. (2012b). Influence of Mentoring on the Learning Outcomes of Schoolbased Anugerah Remaja Perdana Rakan Muda Participants. Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Larson, R. W., & Angus, R. M. (2011). Adolescents' development of skills for agency in youth programs: Learning to think strategically. *Child Development*, 82(1), 277–294.
- Lawford, H. L., & Ramey, H. L. (2017). Predictors of early community involvement: Advancing the self and caring for others. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 59(1–2), 133–143.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. Springer publishing company.
- Lerner, R.M., Lerner, J.V., Bowers, E.P., & Geldhof, G. (2015). Positive youth development and Relational-Developmental-Systems (Handbook o). https://doi.org/10.1002/9871118963418.childpsy116.
- Lerner, J. S., Li, Y., Valdesolo, P., & Kassam, K. S. (2015). Emotion and decision making: Online supplement. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66, 31–33.
- Lerner, R M, & Lerner, J. V. (2013). The positive development of youth: Comprehensive findings from the 4-H study of positive youth development. Chevy Chase, MD: National 4-H Council.
- Lerner, Richard M. (2015). Promoting positive human development and social justice: Integrating theory, research and application in contemporary developmental science. *International Journal of Psychology*, 50(3), 165–173.
- Lerner, Richard M, Alberts, A. E., Jelicic, H., & Smith, L. M. (2006). Young people are resources to be developed: Promoting positive youth development through adult-youth relations and community assets. In *Mobilizing adults for positive youth development* (pp. 19–39). Springer.
- Lerner, Richard M, & Chase, P. A. (2019). Enhancing theory and methodology in the international study of positive youth development: A commentary. In *Child & Youth Care Forum* (Vol. 48, pp. 269–277). Springer.

- Lerner, Richard M, Dowling, E. M., & Anderson, P. M. (2003). Positive youth development: Thriving as the basis of personhood and civil society. *Applied Developmental Science*, 7(3), 172–180.
- Lerner, Richard M, Fisher, C. B., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). Toward a science for and of the people: Promoting civil society through the application of developmental science. *Child Development*, *71*(1), 11–20.
- Lerner, Richard M, Johnson, S. K., & Buckingham, M. H. (2015). Relational developmental systems-based theories and the study of children and families: Lerner and Spanier (1978) revisited. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 7(2), 83–104.
- Lerner, Richard M, Lerner, J. V, & Benson, J. B. (2011). Positive youth development: Research and applications for promoting thriving in adolescence. In *Advances in child development and behavior* (Vol. 41, pp. 1–17). Elsevier.
- Lerner, Richard M, Lerner, J. V, P Bowers, E., & John Geldhof, G. (2015). Positive Youth Development and Relational-Developmental-Systems. *Handbook of Child Psychology and Developmental Science*.
- Lerner, Richard M, von Eye, A., Lerner, J. V, Lewin-Bizan, S., & Bowers, E. P. (2010). Special issue introduction: The meaning and measurement of thriving: A view of the issues. Springer.
- Lewin-Bizan, S., Bowers, E. P., & Lerner, R. M. (2010). One good thing leads to another: Cascades of positive youth development among American adolescents. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(04), 759–770.
- Li, J., & Julian, M. M. (2012). Developmental relationships as the active ingredient: A unifying working hypothesis of "what works" across intervention settings. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 82(2), 157.
- Li, X. (2020). The critical assessment of the youth policy and youth civic engagement in Denmark and three Danish municipalities. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *110*, 104743.
- Lian, H., Ferris, D. L., & Brown, D. J. (2012). Does power distance exacerbate or mitigate the effects of abusive supervision? It depends on the outcome. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(1), 107.
- Linds, W., Goulet, L., & Sammel, A. (2010). *Emancipatory practices: Adult/youth engagement for social and environmental justice*. Sense Publishers Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

- Linver, M.R., Urban, J.B., Chauveron, L.M., Barrios, V., Illnick, V., Gama, L., & Jensen, R., MacDonnell, M. (2015). Is early adolescent self-regulation associated withthe 5Cs of Positive Youth Development? Findings from Scottish youth. In Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Association of Psychological Science, New York, NY. New York, NY.
- Maddi, Salvatore R. (2004). Hardiness: An operationalization of existential courage. Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 44(3), 279–298.
- Maddi, Salvatore R. (2006). Hardiness: The courage to grow from stresses. *The Journal* of *Positive Psychology*, 1(3), 160–168.
- Maddi, Salvatore R, Brow, M., Khoshaba, D. M., & Vaitkus, M. (2006). Relationship of hardiness and religiousness to depression and anger. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 58(3), 148.
- Maddi, Salvatore R, & Harvey, R. H. (2006). Hardiness considered across cultures. In Handbook of multicultural perspectives on stress and coping (pp. 409–426). Springer.
- Maddi, Salvatore R, Harvey, R. H., Khoshaba, D. M., Fazel, M., & Resurreccion, N. (2009). Hardiness training facilitates performance in college. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 4(6), 566–577.
- Maddi, Salvatore R, Harvey, R. H., Khoshaba, D. M., Fazel, M., & Resurreccion, N. (2012). The relationship of hardiness and some other relevant variables to college performance. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 52(2), 190–205.
- Maddi, Salvatore R, Harvey, R. H., Khoshaba, D. M., Lu, J. L., Persico, M., & Brow, M. (2006). The personality construct of hardiness, III: Relationships with repression, innovativeness, authoritarianism, and performance. *Journal of Personality*, 74(2), 575–598.
- Maddi, Salvatore R, Khoshaba, D. M., Harvey, R. H., Fazel, M., & Resurreccion, N. (2011). The personality construct of hardiness, V: Relationships with the construction of existential meaning in life. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, *51*(3), 369–388.
- Maddi, Salvatore R, Khoshaba, D. M., Jensen, K., Carter, E., Lu, J. L., & Harvey, R. H. (2002). Hardiness training for high-risk undergraduates. *NACADA Journal*, 22(1), 45–55.
- Maddi, Salvatore R, Matthews, M. D., Kelly, D. R., Villarreal, B., & White, M. (2012). The role of hardiness and grit in predicting performance and retention of USMA cadets. *Military Psychology*, 24(1), 19.

- Maddi, Salvatore Richard, Erwin, L. M., Carmody, C. L., Villarreal, B. J., White, M., & Gundersen, K. K. (2013). Relationship of hardiness, grit, and emotional intelligence to internet addiction, excessive consumer spending, and gambling. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 8(2), 128–134.
- Malaysian Institute for Youth Development Research.Malaysian Youth Index 2016. (2017).
- Massoni, E. (2011). Positive Effects of Extra Curricular Activities on Students. *ESSAI*, 9.
- Matsunaga, M. (2008). Item parceling in structural equation modeling: A primer. *Communication Methods and Measures*, 2(4), 260–293.
- Matusitz, J., & Musambira, G. (2013). Power distance, uncertainty avoidance, and technology: analyzing Hofstede's dimensions and human development indicators. *Journal of Technology in Human Services*, 31(1), 42–60.
- McDavid, L., McDonough, M. H., Wong, J. B., Snyder, F. J., Ruiz, Y., &
- Blankenship, B. B. (2019). Associations between participation in a Physical Activity-Based Positive Youth Development Program and Academic Outcomes. *Journal* of Adolescence, 77, 147–151.
- Merino-Tejedor, E., Hontangas-Beltrán, P. M., Boada-Grau, J., & Lucas-Mangas, S. (2015). Hardiness as a moderator variable between the Big-Five Model and work effort. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 85, 105–110.
- Milsom, A., & Dobmeier, R. (2011). School counselors support student spirituality through developmental assets, character education, and ASCA competency indicators. *Professional School Counseling*, 14(5), 317–327.
- Ministry of Higher Education, Malaysia. (2019). Retrieved from https://www.mohe.gov.my/en/
- Ministry of Youth and Sports, M. (2019). Rakan Muda Development Department.
- Mitra, D. L. (2008). Balancing power in communities of practice: An examination of increasing student voice through school-based youth-adult partnerships. *Journal of Educational Change*, 9(3), 221.
- Mitra, D. L., Sanders, F. C., & Perkins, D. F. (2010). Providing spark and stability: The role of intermediary organizations in establishing school-based youth-adult partnerships. *Applied Developmental Science*, 14(2), 106–123.
- Mitra, D., Serriere, S., & Kirshner, B. (2014). Youth participation in US contexts: Student voice without a national mandate. *Children & Society*, 28(4), 292–304.

- Mohamed, Nor Hidayah and Hamzah, S. R. (2016). The adaptation of Positive Youth Development approach towards community college's students in Malaysia. In In: International Conference on Youth (ICYOUTH) 2016, 15-17 Nov. 2016. Mines Wellness Hotel, Seri Kembangan, Selangor, Malaysia.
- Mohd Noor, M. H., Suhadi, N., & Tee, T. K. (2017). Self awareness curiculum activities and effectiveness to youth. *Social Science*, 47228-47231.
- Mole, D. (2016). Youth-ADult Partnership opportunities and challenges: In community and community development organization. Addis Ababa.
- Monea, I. S., Bengaa, O., & Opreb, A. (2016). Cross-cultural differences in socialization goals as a function of power distance, individualism-collectivism and education. *Rom J Exp Appl Psychol*, 7, 330–334.
- Moore, K. A. (2017). Commentary: Positive youth development goes mainstream. *Child Development*, 88(4), 1175–1177.
- Mostafaei, A. (2012). The relationship between stress and mental health in university students. *Annals of Biological Research*, 3(7), 3468–3473.
- Mueller, M. K., Lewin-Bizan, S., & Urban, J. B. (2011). Youth activity involvement and positive youth development. In *Advances in child development and behavior* (Vol. 41, pp. 231–249). Elsevier.
- Mueller, M. K., Phelps, E., Bowers, E. P., Agans, J. P., Urban, J. B., & Lerner, R. M. (2011). Youth development program participation and intentional selfregulation skills: Contextual and individual bases of pathways to positive youth development. *Journal of Adolescence*, 34(6), 1115–1125.
- Nezhad, M. A. S., & Besharat, M. A. (2010). Relations of resilience and hardiness with sport achievement and mental health in a sample of athletes. *ProcediaSocial and Behavioral Sciences*, *5*, 757–763.
- Norze, J. (2018). Building Program Quality in Youth Development Staff Training: Critical Components as Perceived by Currently Employed Youth Development Professionals in the United States.
- Norze, J., & Cater, M. (2020). A Systematic Review of Program Quality in the Field of Positive Youth Development. Advances in Sciences and Humanities, 6(2), 58.
- O'Donnell, J., & Kirkner, S. L. (2014). The Impact of a Collaborative Family Involvement Program on Latino Families and Children's Educational Performance. *School Community Journal*, 24(1), 211–234.
- O'Mara-Eves, A., Brunton, G., Oliver, S., Kavanagh, J., Jamal, F., & Thomas, J. (2015). The effectiveness of community engagement in public health interventions for disadvantaged groups: a meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), 129.

- Okun, M. A., Zautra, A. J., & Robinson, S. E. (1988). Hardiness and health among women with rheumatoid arthritis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 9(1), 101–107. https://doi.org/doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(88)90035-9
- Orr, E., & Westman, M. (1990). Does hardiness moderate stress, and how? A review.
- Pallant, J. (2010). SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using SPSS. McGraw-Hill International.
- Patton, G. C., Sawyer, S. M., Santelli, J. S., Ross, D. A., Afifi, R., Allen, N. B., ... Bonell, C. (2016). Our future: a Lancet commission on adolescent health and wellbeing. *The Lancet*, 387(10036), 2423–2478.
- Pellegrino, J. W. E., & Hilton, M. L. E. (2012). Education for life and work: Developing transferable knowledge and skills in the 21st century. National Academies Press, Washington, D.C.
- Pengilly, J. W., & Dowd, E. T. (2000). Hardiness and social support as moderators of stress. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 56(6), 813–820.
- Peter L. Benson, P.L., Scales, P.C., Hamilton, S.F., Sesma, A. J. (2007). Positive Youth Development: Theory, Research, and Applications. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1002/9780470147658.chpsy0116
- Phillips, J. (2011). Hardiness as a defense against compassion fatigue and burnout. Journal of Emergency Nursing, 37(2), 125.
- Pierce, K. M., Bolt, D. M., & Vandell, D. L. (2010). Specific features of after-school program quality: Associations with children's functioning in middle childhood. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(3–4), 381–393.
- Pilkauskaite-Valickiene, R. (2015). The role of character, confidence, and connection on contribution and subjective well-being. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 197, 265–270.
- Pittman, K. J., Irby, M., Tolman, J., Yohalem, N., & Ferber, T. (2011). Preventing problems, promoting development, encouraging engagement. In *Washington, DC: Forum for Youth Investment*.
- Pringle, J., Whitehead, R., Milne, D., Scott, E., & McAteer, J. (2018). The relationship between a trusted adult and adolescent outcomes: a protocol of a scoping review. *Systematic Reviews*, 7(1), 1–7.
- Puni, A., & Anlesinya, A. (2017). Whistleblowing propensity in power distance societies. Journal of Global Responsibility, 8(2), 212–224. Punnahitanond, R. (2005).
 "Just say yes" to positive youth development: Investigating media campaign effects on Thai youths' behaviors using the integrative model of behavioral prediction. The University of WisconsinMadison. Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations Publishing, 2005. 3200019.

- Qian, J., Han, z., Wang, H., Li, X., Wang, Q. (2014). Power distance and mentorprotege relationship quality as moderators of the relationship between informal mentoring and burnout: evidence from China. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 8(51). https://doi.org/doi:10.1186/1752-4458-8-51
- Qian, J., Han, Z., Wang, H., Li, X., & Wang, Q. (2014). Power distance and mentorprotégé relationship quality as moderators of the relationship between informal mentoring and burnout: evidence from China. *International Journal* of Mental Health Systems, 8(1), 51.
- Ramey, H. L. (2013). Organizational outcomes of youth involvement in organizational decision making: a synthesis of qualitative research. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 41(4), 488–504.
- Ramey, H. L., Lawford, H. L., Rose-Krasnor, L., Freeman, J., & Lanctot, J. (2018). Engaging diverse Canadian youth in youth development programs: Program quality and community engagement. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 94, 20–26.
- Ramey, H. L., & Rose-Krasnor, L. (2015). The new mentality: Youth-adult partnerships in community mental health promotion. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 50, 28–37.
- Ramey, H. L., Rose-Krasnor, L., Busseri, M. A., Gadbois, S., Bowker, A., & Findlay, L. (2015). Measuring psychological engagement in youth activity involvement. *Journal of Adolescence*, 45, 237–249.
- Ramey, H. L., Rose-Krasnor, L., & Lawford, H. L. (2017). Youth–Adult Partnerships and Youth Identity Style. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 46(2), 442–453.
- Rao, A. N., & Pearce, J. L. (2016). Should management practice adapt to cultural values? The evidence against power distance adaptation. *Cross Cultural & Strategic Management*, 23(2), 257–286.
- Razzaq, A. R. A., Hadi, M. Y., Mustafa, M. Z., Hamzah, A., Khalifah, Z., & Mohamad, N. H. (2011). Local community participation in homestay program development in Malaysia. *Journal of Modern Accounting and Auditing*, 7(12), 1418.
- Rhodewalt, F., & Zone, J. B. (1989). Appraisal of life change, depression, and illness in hardy and nonhardy women. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(1), 81.
- Richards-Schuster, K., & Timmermans, R. (2017). Conceptualizing the role of adults within youth-adult partnerships: An example from practice. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 81, 284–292.

- Riciputi, S., Boyer, P., McDonough, M. H., & Snyder, F. J. (2019). Formative evaluation of a pilot afterschool physical activity-based positive youth development program. *Health Promotion Practice*, 20(2), 269–281.
- Rizvi, T. (2016). A study of relationship between Hardiness and Psychological Wellbeing in University students. *International Journal of Advanced Research* (*IJAR*), 4(11), 2349–2343. https://doi.org/10.21474/IJAR01/2344
- Rosa, E. M., & Tudge, J. (2013). Urie Bronfenbrenner's theory of human development: Its evolution from ecology to bioecology. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 5(4), 243–258.
- Roth, J. L., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2016). Evaluating youth development programs: Progress and promise. *Applied Developmental Science*, 20(3), 188–202.
- Ryff, C. D., & Keyes, C. L. M. (1995). The structure of psychological well-being revisited. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(4), 719.
- Salam, S., & Hoque, A. S. M. M. (2019). The Role of Social Media and Effect of Relationship Marketing on SME Performance in Bangladesh: Multi-Group CFA. Asian People Journal (APJ), 2(1), 12–31.
- Samsuddin, S. F., Omar, S. Z., Samah, B. A., & Bolong, J. (2016). Potential Benefits of ICT towards Rural Positive Youth Development in Malaysia. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 6(5), 258–272.
- Sandvik, A. M., Hansen, A. L., Hystad, S. W., Johnsen, B. H., & Bartone, P. T. (2015). Psychopathy, anxiety, and resiliency–Psychological hardiness as a mediator of the psychopathy–anxiety relationship in a prison setting. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 72, 30–34.
- Scales, P. C., Benson, P. L., & Mannes, M. (2006). The contribution to adolescent wellbeing made by nonfamily adults: An examination of developmental assets as contexts and processes. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 34(4), 401–413.
- Schmid, K. L., Phelps, E., Kiely, M. K., Napolitano, C. M., Boyd, M. J., & Lerner, R. M. (2011). The role of adolescents' hopeful futures in predicting positive and negative developmental trajectories: Findings from the 4-H Study of
- Positive Youth Development. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 6(1), 45–56. Schneider, S. C., & Barsoux, J. L. (1997). Managing cultural differences. *New York*.
- Schwartz, S. E. O., Chan, C. S., Rhodes, J. E., & Scales, P. C. (2013). Community developmental assets and positive youth development: The role of natural mentors. *Research in Human Development*, 10(2), 141–162.
- Serido, J., Borden, L.M., Perkins, D. (2011). Moving beyond youth voice. Journal of Youth and Society, 1(43), 44–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X09351280

- Serido, J., Borden, L. M., & Perkins, D. F. (2011). Moving beyond youth voice. *Youth & Society*, 43(1), 44–63.
- Serido, J., Borden, L. M., & Wiggs, C. B. (2014). Breaking down potential barriers to continued program participation. *Youth & Society*, 46(1), 51–69.
- Shamsudin, S., Ismail, S. F., Al-Mamun, A., & Nordin, S. K. B. S. (2014). Examining the effect of extracurricular activities on academic achievements among the public university students in Malaysia. *Asian Social Science*, 10(9), 171.
- Shamsudin, S., Ismail, S. F., Al-Mamun, A., & Nordin, S. K. B. S. (2014). Examining the effect of extracurricular activities on academic achievements among the public university students in Malaysia. *Asian Social Science*, 10(9), 171.
- Shek, D. T. L., Sun, R. C. F., Chui, Y. H., Lit, S. W., Yuen, W. W., Chung, Y. Y. H., & Ngai, S. W. (2012). Development and evaluation of a positive youth development course for university students in Hong Kong. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2012.
- Shek, D. T. L., & Yu, L. (2011). A review of validated youth prevention and positive youth development programs in Asia. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*, 23(4), 317–324.
- Shernoff, D. J. (2010). Engagement in after-school programs as a predictor of social competence and academic performance. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(3–4), 325–337.
- Sherrod, L. R., Torney-Purta, J., & Flanagan, C. A. (2010). *Research on the development* of citizenship: A field comes of age. (In L. R. S). New Jersey: Wiley.
- Skomorovsky, A., &Sudom, K. (2011). Role of hardiness in the psychological wellbeing of Canadian Forces officer candidates. *Mil Med*, *176*(1), 7–12.
- Smith, C., Akiva, T., Sugar, S., Devaney, T., Lo, Y.-J., Frank, K., ... Cortina, K. S. (2013). Continuous quality improvement in afterschool settings. In Washington, DC: Forum for Youth Investment.
- Smith, C., Peck, S. C., Denault, A.-S., Blazevski, J., & Akiva, T. (2010). Quality at the point of service: Profiles of practice in after-school settings. *American Journal* of Community Psychology, 45(3–4), 358–369.
- Song, J., Gu, J., Wu, J., & Xu, S. (2019). Differential promotive voice–prohibitive voice relationships with employee performance: Power distance orientation as a moderator. Asia Pacific Journal of Management, 36(4), 1053–1077.
- Steinberg, L. (2008). A social neuroscience perspective on adolescent risk-taking. Developmental Review, 28(1), 78–106.

- Sullivan, P. J., & Larson, R. W. (2010). Connecting youth to highresource adults: Lessons from effective youth programs. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 25(1), 99–123. https://doi.org/10.1177/07435584 09350505.
- Sullivan, P. J., & Larson, R. W. (2010). Connecting youth to high-resource adults: Lessons from effective youth programs. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 25(1), 99–123.
- Sun, R. C. F., & Shek, D. T. L. (2012). Beliefs in the future as a positive youth development construct: A conceptual review. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2012.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2012). Using Multivariate Statistics: (Internatio). Pearson.
- Tara, U., & Ahsan, S. (2020). Cognitive hardiness as a moderator in the relationship between generalized workplace harassment and anger among working women in Pakistan. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 30(8), 971– 988.
- Terzi, A. R. (2011). "Relationship between power distance and autocratic democratic tendencies", *Educational Research and Reviews*, 6(7), 528–535.
- Umar, B. B., Krauss, S. E., Samah, A. A., & Hamid, J. A. (2017). Youth voice in Nigerian school-based management committees. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(1), 86–93.
- Vandell, D. L., Larson, R. W., Mahoney, J. L., & Watts, T. W. (2015). Children's organized activities. *Handbook of Child Psychology and Developmental Science*.
- Vézina, M.-P., & Poulin, F. (2017). Investigating civic participation developmental trajectories among Canadian youths transitioning into adulthood. *Applied Developmental Science*, 1–15.
- Vidrine, J. I., Reitzel, L. R., Figueroa, P. Y., Velasquez, M. M., Mazas, C. A., Cinciripini, P. M., & Wetter, D. W. (2013). Motivation and problem solving (MAPS): Motivationally based skills training for treating substance use. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 20(4), 501–516.
- W. A. Musa, Othman, M. N. H. and N. P. M. S. (2016). Co-curricular Activities Among Students at University Kuala Lumpur: Entrepreneurial Propensity. *Information Technology Journal*, 15, 144–148. https://doi.org/10.3923/itj.2016.144.148
- Wallace, K. A., Bisconti, T. L., & Bergeman, C. S. (2010). The mediational effect of hardiness on social support and optimal outcomes in later life. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 23(4), 267–279. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15324834BASP2304

- Wang, M., & Fredricks, J. A. (2014). The reciprocal links between school engagement, youth problem behaviors, and school dropout during adolescence. *Child Development*, 85(2), 722–737.
- Washington, D., O. of J. J. and D. P. (2014). "Positive Youth Development." Literature Review. Retrieved from http://www.ojjdp.gov/mpg/litreviews/PositiveYouthDevelopment.
- Weybright, E. H., Hrncirik, L. M., White, A. J., Cummins, M. M., Deen, M. K., & Calodich, S. (2016). I felt really respected and I know she felt respected too": Using Youth-Adult Partnerships to Promote Positive Youth Development in 4H Youth. *Journal of Human Sciences and Extension Volume*, 4(3), 93–110.
- Weybright, E. H., Trauntvein, N., & Deen, M. K. (2017). "It Was Like We Were All Equal": Maximizing Youth Development Using Youth-Adult Partnerships. *Journal of Park & Recreation Administration*, 35(1).
- Williams, J. L., & Deutsch, N. L. (2016). Beyond between-group differences: Considering race, ethnicity, and culture in research on positive youth development programs. *Applied Developmental Science*, 20(3), 203–213.
- Wong, N. T., Zimmerman, M. A., & Parker, E. A. (2010). A typology of youth participation and empowerment for child and adolescent health promotion. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 46(1–2), 100–114.
- Wong, P. T. P., & Wong, L. C. J. (2012). A meaning-centered approach to building youth resilience. *The Human Quest for Meaning: Theories, Research, and Applications*, 585–617.
- Wu, H.-C., Weiss, J., Kornbluh, M., & Roddy, L. (2014). Youth-adult partnership rubric: A tool for professional development and program evaluation in youth settings. East Lansing: Michigan State University.
- Wu, H.-C. J., Kornbluh, M., Weiss, J., & Roddy, L. (2016). Measuring and Understanding Authentic Youth Engagement: The Youth-Adult Partnership Rubric. Afterschool Matters, 23, 8–17.
- Yang, C., Nay, S., & Hoyle, R. H. (2010). Three approaches to using lengthy ordinal scales in structural equation models: Parceling, latent scoring, and shortening scales. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 34(2), 122–142.
- Yohalem, N., & Wilson-Ahlstrom, A. (2010). Inside the black box: Assessing and improving quality in youth programs. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(4), 358–369.
- Yohalem, N., & Wilson-Ahlstrom, A. (2010). Inside the black box: Assessing and improving quality in youth programs. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(3–4), 350–357.

- Zainudin, A. (2012). Chapter 6 Analyzing the mediating variable in a model. *A Handbook on SEM*, 101–133.
- Zarrett, N., Fay, K., Li, Y., Carrano, J., Phelps, E., & Lerner, R. M. (2009). More than child's play: variable-and pattern-centered approaches for examining effects of sports participation on youth development. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(2), 368.
- Zeldin, S., Camino, L., & Mook, C. (2005). The adoption of innovation in youth organizations: Creating the conditions for youth-adult partnerships. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 33(1), 121–135.
- Zeldin, S., Christens, B. D., & Powers, J. L. (2013). The psychology and practice of youth-adult partnership: Bridging generations for youth development and community change. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 52(3–4), 385–397.
- Zeldin, S., Christens, B. D., & Powers, J. L. (2013). The psychology and practice of youth-adult partnership: Bridging generations for youth development and community change. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 51(3–4), 385–397.
- Zeldin, S., Gauley, J., Krauss, S. E., Kornbluh, M., & Collura, J. (2017). Youth–adult partnership and youth civic development: Cross-national analyses for scholars and field professionals. *Youth & Society*, 49(7), 851–878.
- Zeldin, S., Krauss, S. E., Collura, J., Lucchesi, M., & Sulaiman, A. H. (2014). Conceptualizing and measuring youth–adult partnership in community programs: A cross national study. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 54(3–4), 337–347.
- Zeldin, S., Krauss, S. E., Kim, T., Collura, J., & Abdullah, H. (2016). Pathways to youth empowerment and community connectedness: A study of youth-adult partnership in Malaysian after-school, co-curricular programs. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45(8), 1638–1651.
- Zeldin, S., Wilson, D., Collura, J., Christens, B. D., & Dolan, T. (2011). Interweaving youth development, community development, and social change through youth organizing. *Youth & Society*, *43*(2), 528–548.
- Zhang, L. (2011). Hardiness and the big five personality traits among Chinese university students. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 21(1), 109–113. https://doi.org/doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2010.05.006